





## biblio.ugent.be

The UGent Institutional Repository is the electronic archiving and dissemination platform for all UGent research publications. Ghent University has implemented a mandate stipulating that all academic publications of UGent researchers should be deposited and archived in this repository. Except for items where current copyright restrictions apply, these papers are available in Open Access.

This item is the archived peer-reviewed author-version of: Intracellular partitioning of cell organelles and extraneous nanoparticles during mitosis

Authors: Symens N., Soenen S.J., Rejman J., Braeckmans K., De Smedt S.C., Remaut K.

In: Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 2012, 64(1), 78-94

Optional: link to the article

To refer to or to cite this work, please use the citation to the published version:

Authors (year). Title. journal Volume(Issue) page-page. Doi 10.1016/j.addr.2011.11.012

## Intracellular partitioning of cell organelles and extraneous nanoparticles during mitosis

Nathalie Symens, Stefaan J. Soenen, Joanna Rejman, Kevin Braeckmans, Stefaan C. De Smedt and Katrien Remaut

Laboratory of General Biochemistry and Physical Pharmacy, Ghent Research Group on Nanomedicines, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Ghent University, Harelbekestraat 72, B-9000 Ghent, Belgium. (phone +3292648047; fax +3292648189)

symensnathalie@hotmail.com,Stefaan.Soenen@Ugent.be,j\_rejman@hotmail.com,Kevin.Braeckmans@Ugent.be,Stefaan.Desmedt@Ugent.be,Katrien.Remaut@Ugent.be(corresponding author)Katrien.Remaut@Ugent.beKatrien.Remaut@Ugent.be

#### Abstract

The nucleocytoplasmic partitioning of nanoparticles as a result of cell division is highly relevant for the field of nonviral gene delivery. Therefore, we reviewed the literature on intracellular distribution of cell organelles (endosomal vesicles, golgi apparatus, endoplasmic reticulum and nucleus), foreign macromolecules (dextrans, plasmid DNA) and inorganic nanoparticles (gold, quantum dots, iron oxide) during mitosis. For nonviral gene delivery particles (lipid- or polymer-based) indirect proof of nuclear entry during mitosis is given. Further, we describe how retroviruses and latent DNA viruses take advantage of mitosis to transfer their viral genome and to segregate their episomes into host daughter nuclei, respectively. Finally, based on this knowledge we propose strategies to improve nonviral gene delivery in dividing cells with the ultimate goal to design nonviral gene delivery systems which are as efficient as their viral counterparts, but which are non immunogenic, not oncogenic and easy and inexpensive to prepare.

#### <u>Keywords</u>

nonviral gene therapy or delivery particles, quantum dots, gold particles, retroviruses, latent viruses, dextran, plasmid DNA, cell division, cell cycle, nucleus

#### **Abbreviations**

ASV	avian sarcoma virus
AT	adenosine monophosphate thymidine monophosphate
BPV	bovine papillomavirus
Brd4	double bromodomain protein 4
CDK	cyclin-dependent kinase

EBNA1	Epstein Barr virus nuclear antigen 1
EBV	Epstein Barr virus
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
FV	foamy virus
H2A-H2B	histon 2A – histon 2B pocket
HHV	human herpesvirus
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus
HPV	human papillomavirus
HVS	herpesvirus saimiri
INM	inner nuclear membrane
IONP	iron oxide nanoparticles
KSHV	Kaposi sarcoma associated herpesvirus
LANA	latency associated nuclear antigen
LEDGF/p75	endogenous lens epithelium derived growth factor/p75
LEM	Lap2, Emerin, Man1
MuLV	murine leukemia virus
NE	nuclear envelope
NEBD	nuclear envelope breakdown
NLS	nuclear localization signal
NPC	nuclear pore complex
ONM	outer nuclear membrane
PEI	polyethyleneimine
PIC	pre-integration complex
QD	quantum dot
SNV	spleen necrosis virus
SV40	Simian vacuolating virus 40
XNER	Xenopus nuclear envelope reassembly

# Table of contents

- 1. General introduction
- 2. Breakdown and reassembly of the nuclear envelope structure during mitosis
  - 2.1. Nuclear envelope structure
  - 2.2. Nuclear envelope breakdown
  - 2.3. Nuclear envelope reassembly

- 3. Mitotic partitioning of cell organelles
- 4. Mitotic partitioning of free macromolecules
  - 4.1. Dextrans
  - 4.2. Free plasmid DNA
- 5. Mitotic partitioning of inorganic quantum dots, gold and iron oxide nanoparticles
- 6. Effect of cell division on nonviral gene delivery particles
- 7. Viral particles taking advantage of mitosis
  - 7.1. Retroviruses
  - 7.2. Latent DNA viruses
- 8. Reflections on therapeutic strategies for the improvement of nuclear inclusion of exogenous nucleic acids or other macromolecules
  - 8.1. Chromatin targeting
  - 8.2. Targeting non-chromatin nuclear elements
  - 8.3. Cell-division responsive nanoparticles
  - 8.4. Xenopus nuclear envelope reassembly assay to study nuclear envelope dynamics
- 9. General conclusions

## 1. General introduction

Gene therapy using plasmid DNA (pDNA) aims at inducing protein production by the administration of pDNA that encodes for the desired protein. To date, several hurdles still need to be overcome to allow highly efficient delivery of drugs or genes at the desired intracellular location. For gene therapy to be successful, nucleic acids should reach the transcription machinery in the nucleus of the target cells. Nucleic acids should also remain intact as their sequence ensures their biological activity. In recent years the notion that for maximal transfection the pDNA not just needs to reach the nucleus, but rather gain access to the right intranuclear compartment has been gaining increasing recognition [1-3]. Moreover, transfection efficiency can differ substantially between cell types, and within one cell type, between various phases of the cell cycle [4, 5].

The cell cycle can be divided into 4 phases: growth or  $G_1$  phase, DNA synthesis or S phase, gap 2 or  $G_2$  phase and mitosis or M phase.  $G_1/S/G_2$  phases together are named the interphase, in which the cells prepare themselves for mitosis. During each cell cycle, the nuclear genome is doubled in S phase and the two identical genomic copies are subsequently separated into both daughter cells during M phase. The typical length of the cell cycle can differ substantially between species, but generally mitosis is completed within 1 - 1.5 hours and cells spend most of their time in interphase (e.g. approximately 8, 6 and 5 hours for  $G_1/S/G_2$  in human beings). Cells which do not divide are

considered to be in a postmitotic rest phase or G<sub>0</sub>. Mitosis itself is divided into several distinct subphases: i) prophase, in which the chromatin condenses into chromosomes and the nuclear envelope breaks down (NEBD), ii) metaphase, in which the chromosomes align themselves along the metaphase plate iii) anaphase, in which the sister chromatids are separated by moving to the opposite poles and iv) telophase/cytokinesis in which the nuclear envelope (NE) is reassembled around the segregated chromatids and the cell divides into two daughter cells. The different stages of the cell cycle are controlled by subsequent phosphorylation and dephosphorylation reactions governed by cyclins and cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) complexes, which are tightly controlled both in space and in time [6, 7]. Also, several checkpoints exist, which verify the completion of the processes at each phase of the cell cycle before progression into the next phase is allowed.

It has been shown that cells which do not go through M phase are difficult to transfect [5, 8]. The main reason for this is the nuclear envelope, which consists mainly of two phospholipid bilayers [9-11]. Occasionally, the outer nuclear membrane (ONM) and the inner nuclear membrane (INM) fuse at the nuclear pore complexes (NPCs). In interphase, pDNA can only gain access to the nuclear interior through the small central channel of the NPCs, which is a very inefficient process. Although some gene delivery systems are cell cycle-independent [12], most of them profit from the process of cell division [5, 8, 13-18]. The majority of higher eukaryotes undergo 'open mitosis', characterized by the complete disassembly of the NE allowing the intermixing of nucleoplasmic and cytoplasmic components. At the end of mitosis, the NE reconstitutes and the cytoplasm and nucleoplasm 'unmix' again. It is likely that certain cytoplasmic components can gain access to the nucleoplasm during these mitotic mixing and unmixing events. In this review, we will emphasize the therapeutic potential of nonviral gene delivery particles brought to the nucleus during cell division. In that regard, we will first focus on the cellular machinery involved in NE breakdown and reassembly during mitosis. Secondly, we will review the fate of cell organelles, macromolecules and nonviral nanoparticles during mitosis. Further, we will focus on the mechanisms applied by certain viral particles to deliver their genome into the cell nucleus or segregate their latent episomes to progeny cells during mitosis (Table 1). Based on this knowledge we will propose experimental approaches which could enhance the intranuclear delivery of nonviral gene delivery complexes during cell division. This in turn might lead to an improvement of the efficacy of therapeutic strategies relying on nonviral carriers.

## 2. Breakdown and reassembly of the nuclear envelope structure during mitosis

#### 2.1. Nuclear envelope structure

In eukaryotic cells, the genetic material is kept inside the nucleus, surrounded by the NE which physically separates the nucleoplasm from the cytoplasm. It consists of two phospholipid bilayers

composed of the ONM, which is continuous with the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), and the INM which interacts with the underlying lamina and chromatin through several integral and associated membrane proteins (Fig. 1) [19, 20]. The NE is equipped with NPCs which regulate traffic between the cytoplasm and the nucleus. These 125 kDa large multi-protein complexes contain an aqueous channel that permits passive transport of molecules up to 10 nm in size. Larger molecules require a nuclear localization signal (NLS) that can enlarge the central channel of the NPCs up to 40 nm [21]. NPCs are strongly anchored in the NE and are composed of strongly associated nucleoporin complexes [22]. NPCs are assumed to play a role in gene regulation since activated genes associate with the NPCs. Furthermore, they can maintain a 'transcriptional memory': previously transcribed genes are retained at the NPCs and show an accelerated gene expression following reactivation. Interestingly, this transcriptional memory can be maintained even after cell division [23].

The 30 – 100 nm thick nuclear lamina is located in-between the chromatin and the INM. It provides mechanical strength and transcriptional regulation to the cell nucleus and is composed of type A and type B lamins and lamin-associated proteins which are often integral proteins of the INM [24]. Many of these INM proteins contain the LEM-domain (Lap2, Emerin, Man1), through which they bind the lamins, as well as other components such as the barrier-to-autointegration factor (BAF). BAF on its turn can bind dsDNA, chromatin and transcription activators, thereby connecting the nuclear lamina to the peripheral chromatin [25, 26]. Due to multiple interactions between the lamina and the chromatin, the lamins play an important role in the regulation of transcription in response to a chemical or mechanical stimulus [23]. If the nuclear lamina is affected in so-called laminopathies, this can drastically alter the expression profile of the cell [27]. The most striking example is probably molecular aging in Hutchinson-Gilford progeria syndrome, which is the result of a single mutation in lamin A [28].

In the cell nucleus, DNA is packed with histones into chromatin. In interphase, at least two types of chromatin can be distinguished: a lightly packed form of chromatin (euchromatin) that has greater potential to be transcribed and highly condensed chromatin (heterochromatin) that is generally transcriptionally inactive. When the chromosomes are formed during mitosis, the chromatin is arranged into its most compact form. Euchromatin is generally found in the core of the nucleus, while heterochromatin is located closer to the lamina, suggesting that the nuclear interior promotes gene expression, whereas the nuclear periphery promotes gene silencing, unless in the areas close to NPCs [23, 29].

#### 2.2. Nuclear envelope breakdown

In the process called 'open mitosis', the NE completely disassembles, resulting in the intermixing of nucleoplasmic and cytoplasmic components. The stepwise process of NEBD is initialized at late prophase by a series of CDK1-dependent phosphorylations of nucleoporins, lamins and integral membrane proteins from the INM [30]. The initial step of NEBD is the partial disassembly of the NPCs. This increases the passive permeability of the NPCs to molecules up to about 40 nm, thereby promoting the nuclear import of larger cytoplasmic molecules such as tubulin, a major component of the mitotic spindle [31]. Subsequently, the core nucleoporins are released, resulting in the complete disassembly of the NPCs. The complete disassembly of the NPCs is a rapid process, which is completed in minutes. Initially it was thought that the NE elements are distributed in the cytoplasm in vesicular form. Currently it is becoming more and more accepted that most NE membranes and their associated proteins are resorbed in the ER [19]. As the final step in NEBD, the nuclear lamina depolymerizes and INM proteins dissociate from the lamins and the chromatin.

## 2.3. Nuclear envelope reassembly

During anaphase, the sister chromatids are moving to opposite poles by shortening of the microtubuli [32]. This results in the physical separation of two sets of identical chromosomes, around which a new NE is formed. This NE starts to reassemble in late anaphase and NE formation is completed at telophase/cytokinesis, when two daughter cells are formed. To prevent nonnuclear material to end up in the nucleus, it is important to securely unmix the cytoplasmic and nucleoplasmic elements. Also, all chromatin should be included in only one nucleus, avoiding the formation of a second so-called 'micronucleus' around chromosomes which got separated from the rest. To facilitate this process, chromatin is at its most condensed state when the NE has to reform [33]. The different phases of the NE reassembly include targeting of proteins to chromosomes, assembly of the NPCs, recruitment and fusion of membrane elements and nuclear import of lamins. In contrast to NEBD, which is triggered by a series of phosphorylation reactions, a series of dephoshorylation events coordinates the NE assembly.

Two different models exist for the NE assembly. In the 'insertion model' NPCs are inserted in the already formed NE. In the 'prepore' model, first the so-called prepores or pre-NPCs are formed, which is followed by the formation of the NE in-between these pores. It was previously thought that membrane elements could bind to chromatin in form of membrane vesicles, which would finally fuse to form the NE [34-36]. Currently, however, it is thought that the NE reappears from the ER, where it was redistributed during NEBD. Very recently, Lu *et al.* [37] presented evidence that is in favor of the insertion model. The authors found that the NE reassembly primarily occurs by coordinated direct contact of ER cisternae with the chromosomes and that a functional NPC was only formed when NE formation at that site was completed. Both in the insertion and the prepore model, the final step in

NE formation is the import of lamins through the rebuilt NPCs and the assembly of the nuclear lamina through dephosphorylation of B-type lamins [7, 33]. It is not clear whether the nuclear lamina already binds to specific parts of the chromatin when it assembles or that it initially binds at random and rearranges according to the gene expression needs by detachment and rebinding afterwards [38].

## 3. <u>Mitotic partitioning of cell organelles</u>

As described above, the predominant function of cell division is to deliver a complete set of chromosomes to the two daughter cells. In addition, it should ensure appropriate distribution of key organelles located in the cytosol and prevent nonnuclear material to be included in the daughter nuclei. The latter might occur through exclusion from condensed chromatin throughout mitosis and completion of NE assembly before nuclear expansion [39]. Vesicular particles such as early or late endosomes and lysosomes are distributed in large numbers throughout the cytoplasm. On the other hand, the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and Golgi apparatus exist as single or low-copy organelles. Therefore, it is conceivable that their partitioning during mitosis will display significant differences. Distinctive pathways of endocytosis serve to assure efficient uptake of macromolecules and (gene delivery) particulate formulations by cells. Early or late endosomes and lysosomes are prime players in this process. The *trans*-Golgi network is responsible for sorting and transport of proteins to endosomes and lysosomes.

Bergeland *et al.* [40] studied mitotic partitioning of early and late endosomes and observed that none of the endocytic vesicles fragmented or fused during cell division. Even though the numbers of both types of endosomes in the two daughter cells were roughly the same, no evidence for a strict mechanism guaranteeing their equal distribution was found. This observation was confirmed by others [41], leading to a model in which the partitioning of vesicles in the cytoplasm occurs passively but equally between the two daughter cells. In this model, it is assumed that the more vesicles are present in the cytoplasm, the more accurate the partitioning effect becomes.

On the other hand, Dunster *et al.* [41] found that late endosomes and lysosomes were inherited by daughter cells in a different manner than early endosomes. In contrast to early endosomes, late endosomes and lysosomes hardly associated with the spindle array, from prophase throughout anaphase. By telophase, the distribution of late endosomes and lysosomes mirrors that of early endosomes [41]. It was shown that clustering of endosomal vehicles occurs in a directed manner, which is in favor of the second model, that involves active partitioning of the organelles over the daughter cells, most likely dependent on the mitotic spindle and interphase microtubule scaffold [40,

41]. This was confirmed by the observation that soon after cytokinesis endosomal vesicles accumulate in the area of the microtubule organization center [40].

In mammalian interphase cells, the Golgi apparatus is typically positioned close to the centrosome, at one side of the nucleus [41, 42]. It consists of a stack of disk-shaped membranes (cisternae) surrounded on each side by dense tubular-reticular networks called the *cis*- and *trans*-Golgi network. Interestingly, it was observed already more than 100 years ago that the very characteristic stack-like organization of the Golgi apparatus changes remarkably at the onset of mitosis [43]. Electron microscopy studies published in the late 1980's clearly demonstrated that the number of Golgi stacks decreases considerably at the onset of cell division [44, 45]. This is accompanied by the appearance of large numbers of tubular and vesicular structures, which were proven to derive from the Golgi apparatus [45, 46]. The fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus into hundreds of tubular and vesicular structures (between 50 and 250 nm in size) is considered to facilitate its uniform distribution between the daughter cells [45, 47]. As for the partitioning of endocytic vesicles, the partitioning of Golgi fragments is believed to be random and from a statistical point of view its accuracy depends on two factors: the number of organelle units and their distribution in the cytosol. The larger the number of units and the more evenly they are allocated in the cytosol, the more accurate is their partitioning [47]. This random partitioning has been challenged by Shima et al. [48] who demonstrated that the Golgi distribution between two daughter cells is too precise for a stochastic process. Later reports demonstrated the involvement of the mitotic spindle in the organization of at least a part of Golgi-derived structures during cell division, suggesting some sort of active segregation mechanism for these cell organelles [41, 49].

Apart from the passive or active model of segregation of cell organelles, for the Golgi apparatus a third possible segregation mechanism has been proposed [50, 51]. This model assumes that the Golgi apparatus behaves more like the NE and during cell division temporary disappears and redistributes to the ER, from which it reappears when the daughter cells are formed. The ER can thus be considered as the storage box for NE and Golgi apparatus elements during mitosis. The formation of the NE around the sister chromatids assures the equal partitioning of ER and NE elements between the two daughter cells. When apart from the NE elements, also the Golgi apparatus is resorbed into the ER, it can reappear from the ER in the daughter cells resulting in its efficient partitioning.

#### 4. Mitotic partitioning of free macromolecules such as dextrans and free plasmid DNA

#### 4.1. Dextrans

Dextrans are electroneutral hydrophilic D-glucose polymers. Therefore, they behave as relatively inert molecules inside cells: self aggregation or binding to other cellular structures is negligible and

they show no toxicity even at high concentrations and over prolonged periods. Furthermore, dextrans are commercially available in practically any molecular weight [52]. With increasing molecular weight, neither shape nor surface properties of dextrans change. Consequently, dextrans are perfectly suited as molecular rulers to measure the permeability of pores and channels [31].

At first glance, nuclear entry during mitosis would appear to be a passive process, as NEBD would allow (exogenous) macromolecules to enter compartments which will be included in the nuclei when they reassemble. However, distribution of cellular components between the cytoplasm and the nucleoplasm is tightly controlled both during interphase and mitosis. As a result, there is only a small effect of cell division on the partitioning of exogenous macromolecules. Swanson & McNeil [39] and Benavente et al. [53] shortly after them, were the first to report that it appears that only the chromosomes themselves and the macromolecules physically associated with them (e.g. the perichromosomal layer [54-56]) are included in newly formed nuclei, while organelles (as described in section 3) and other large macromolecules which cannot pass the NPCs are excluded. Swanson & McNeil [39] have reported that after scratch-loading of the cells, the fluorescently labeled large dextrans (> 25 kDa) did not appear in the nuclei, even when cells went through mitosis. Dextrans smaller than 20 kDa, however, were observed in the nuclei of interphase cells regardless of cell division as they can enter the nucleus through the NPCs of the intact NE. These observations were confirmed by Ludtke et al. [57] (Fig. 2) who found that after cytoplasmic injection, the labeled large dextrans remained cytoplasmic regardless of mitosis. After nuclear injection, the labeled large dextrans were localized in the nucleus of cells which did not divide and in the cytosol of cells which divided. Also Lenart et al. [31] found that labeled large dextrans were excluded from reassembled nuclei after mitosis. Thus, cellular compartmentalization at telophase appears to be a two-step process. First, the NE tightly encloses the condensed chromosomes, excluding non-selectively all macromolecules not associated with the chromosomes. Then, selective NPC-mediated import of nuclear proteins from the cytoplasm leads together with the decondensation of the chromosomes to nuclear expansion and the interphase nuclear organization [39, 53]. It should be noted that Miyawaki et al. [58] identified that the NE barrier is more permeable during a short period directly after cytokinesis as a large molecule (210 kDa) diffused across the NE. They saw a subtle but substantial decrease in the diameter of the aqueous channels through the NE formation: it was ~10 nm immediately after cytokinesis and reduced to ~8 nm in 30 minutes. They do not know whether the passive diffusion is due to incompleteness of the NE sealing or altered NPC functions after nuclear reassembly. According to their findings, at least a fraction of macromolecules which are normally not able to pass the NPCs should be able to reach the cell nucleus shortly after cytokinesis.

#### 4.2. Free plasmid DNA

The use of nonviral vectors for gene therapy is hampered by poor transfection efficiencies, largely because of the metabolic instability of pDNA in the cytosol, the inability of pDNA to diffuse freely through the dense cytoplasm and to travel through the NPC [10, 59-61]. It has been reported that as little as 1 in 10<sup>4</sup> pDNA molecules is able to translocate from the cytoplasm to the nucleus [62]. Several attempts to improve the entry of pDNA into the nucleus have been reported. These include the use of electrostatic binding of DNA to cationic nuclear localization signal (NLS)-containing proteins or peptides [63], as well as covalent attachments of NLS peptides to DNA [64]. Additionally, the effect of inclusion of DNA nuclear targeting sequences (DTSs) like the Simian vacuolating virus 40 (SV40) enhancer sequence in the pDNA was investigated [65]. Another strategy was to increase the permeability of the NPCs with *trans*-cyclohexane-1,2-diol [66]. All these attempts have met with limited success.

A few studies have focused on the fate of pDNA during cell division. Dowty et al. [67] reported an interesting study where electron microscopy was used to determine the precise intracellular localization of gold-labeled pDNA which was microinjected into the cytoplasm. The authors observed that the distance between the cytoplasmic site of delivery of pDNA and the nucleus is a key determinant for nuclear incorporation of DNA. Only when pDNA was injected close to the nucleus, nuclear translocation was observed, regardless of the cell cycle status. They have seen that pDNA entered postmitotic nuclei of primary rat myotubes and concluded that cell division-dependency for pDNA to enter the nucleus is also cell type-dependent. Remaut et al. [68] injected unlabeled pDNA directly in the nucleus or the cytoplasm of the cells and found that only upon nuclear injection either open circular, supercoiled and linear pDNA were equally able to be expressed, even at low injection concentrations. When injected in the cytoplasm, however, cell division and a high concentration of supercoiled pDNA were required to reach comparable transfection efficiencies. More detailed studies on the intracellular behaviour of pDNA were performed by Ludtke et al. [57] and Gasiorowski & Dean [69]. Next to labeled dextrans (as described in section 4.1), Ludtke et al. [57] also microinjected naked labeled pDNA into the cyto- or nucleoplasm. Randomly labeled pDNA resembles the intracellular localization pattern of large dextrans as described in section 4.1 (Fig. 2). Following mitosis, it was always localized in the cytosol, regardless of prior cyto- or nucleoplasmic microinjection. Gasiorowski & Dean [69], have shown that naked unlabeled plasmids microinjected directly into nuclei and later detected by FISH were found almost exclusively and in equal amounts within the nuclei of the daughter cells after mitosis. On the other hand, when plasmids were randomly labeled with several commercially available fluorescent DNA labeling kits and afterwards injected into HeLa cell nuclei, the randomly modified plasmids were excluded from the daughter nuclei after cell division. Around the same time Shimizu *et al.* [70] reported similar findings, being that randomly labeled pDNA microinjected into the nucleus was found in the cytoplasm after mitosis. However, they concluded that unlabeled pDNA microinjected into the nucleus rapidly forms intranuclear aggregates and that unlabeled pDNA was like labeled pDNA detected (by FISH) in the cytoplasm 24h after nuclear injection. The aggregates left in the cytoplasm resembled micronuclei, which suggests its similarity to the nuclei formed by purified DNA and the proteins and membranes present in *Xenopus* egg extracts [71, 72].

The results of Gasiorowski & Dean [69] suggest that naked, unmodified plasmids are retained in the nucleus following cell division and likely continue to be expressed in the daughter cells. The episomal pDNA localizes in the region of the cell which will be enclosed by the reforming NE at the end of mitosis, even in the absence of viral chromatin associating systems (see 6.2). Alternatively, the dividing cell can simply recognize the pDNA as a marker for NE reassembly as previous experiments in chromosome-free cellular extracts have shown that functional NEs are formed around extrachromosomal DNA [71, 72]. Consequently, unlabeled pDNA can end up in the nuclei or in the cytoplasm as micronuclei. A pDNA with randomly attached fluorophores, however, is likely to be recognized as a large, foreign molecule and not as a DNA molecule. Therefore, it will be no longer highly interactive with a range of cellular DNA-binding proteins, which most likely interferes with the enclosure of the modified pDNA within the new nuclei or micronuclei [69, 73]. A solution to this problem could be the fluorescent tagging of pDNA only at a specific sequence, leaving the rest of the pDNA sequence accessible to cellular proteins. This can be achieved with quantum dots as described by Srinivasan *et al.* [74]. However, the long term follow up of the intracellular fate and nuclear uptake of these plasmids was not studied in detail.

## 5. Mitotic partitioning of inorganic quantum dots, gold and iron oxide nanoparticles

In the past two decades, rapid developments in the field of nanotechnology have led to a steady increase of applications in the area of nanomedicine [75]. Examples of frequently used nanoparticles are gold, silver or iron oxide nanoparticles (IONPs), quantum dots (QDs) or carbon nanotubes. Also in the area of drug and gene delivery, these particles exhibit several characteristics which make them highly interesting as carrier systems for efficient delivery. Specifically, the small size (ranging between one and several tens of nms) and solid structure of the nanoparticles cause them to be avidly taken up by cultured cells, while their large surface areas enable profound surface chemistry. The particles can thus be provided with multiple functionalities and their specific characteristics allow its combined application of several different modalities (imaging, therapy and carrier systems for delivery) through one nanoparticle type.

For drug and gene delivery, IONPs, QDs and gold particles have been used most frequently. IONPs can be supplied with a cationic coating which allows DNA binding. Their cellular uptake can be strongly enhanced by applying a static magnetic field gradient over the target cells in a procedure which is known as 'magnetofection' [76]. QDs are fluorescent particles exhibiting high photostability, limited photobleaching, high fluorescence emission intensities and narrow fluorescence emission spectra, which allows multi-colour analysis of complex localization, even *in vivo* [77]. Gold nanoparticles are considered to be the most biocompatible, allow facile surface chemistry and are able to strongly adsorb or scatter incident light at a certain resonance wavelength (often in the near Infra-Red region), a phenomenon called localized surface plasmon resonance, enabling microscopy-based long term tracking of complexes in cells and tissues [78].

One of the few studies focusing on the fate of nanoparticles during cell division was performed by Feldherr et al. [79]. They microinjected gold particles of different sizes (3-17 nm) in the cytoplasm of amoebas and studied the cytoplasmic/nucleoplasmic distribution by electron microscopy. Cells injected in interphase contained about 2.6 times more particles in the cytoplasm than in the nucleoplasm. Interestingly, mainly small gold particles (<14 nm) were able to reach the nucleus through the NPCs. When injections were performed in prophase or shortly after mitosis, about 7.3 times more particles could be found in the nucleoplasm when compared to the cytoplasm. Furthermore, the inclusion of larger gold particles (>14 nm) was also observed. Thus, higher relative uptake and incorporation of larger gold nanoparticles were observed in nuclei of dividing cells compared to nondividing cells. According to Feldherr et al. [79], the gold particles enter the nuclei during and/or shortly after mitosis, what could be related to an increased permeability of the NE shortly after it was formed. Later on, Feldherr et al. [80] demonstrated that recently formed NEs with newly forming NPCs are more permeable than those of older cells with fully reconstituted mature NPCs. These studies indicate that the NEBD on itself is not of special importance with regard to the uptake of material into the nucleoplasm, but rather the increased permeability of the NPCs. The rates of diffusion across the NE are the highest during the first and fifth hour after the onset of anaphase [80]. This corresponds with the similar time pattern and non-uniform rate of NPC formation reported in HeLa cells [81]. These findings are consistent with electron microcopy studies of dividing cells [82-84] and the study of Swanson & McNeil [39] which have shown that the NE reforms at the surface of the chromosomes, excluding cytoplasmic substances from the daughter nuclei at the time of reassembly. Therefore, small nanoparticles such as these gold particles are probably not included in the nuclei during mitosis, but are imported shortly afterwards through the more permeable NPCs.

For IONPs or QDs, the focus has been put on the dilution of these particles due to cell division, rather than their nucleocytoplasmic distribution. It has been accepted that for these slowly or non degrading particles, cell division usually results in an exponential decrease in the intracellular concentration of the particles, as in general both daughter cells receive approximately 50% of the particles. Recently, several studies questioned the general applicability of this finding [85, 86]. Walczak *et al.* [87] observed clear differences in endosomally located IONP turnover in C17.2 neural progenitor cells which were either left to proliferate and showed a uniform dilution of the IONPs or underwent differentiation, resulting in a large difference in numbers of particles per cell. The authors found that this effect was due to asymmetric cell division, a phenomenon quite common for stem cells, which occurs during simultaneously occurring differentiation and renewal of stem cells. This results in an abrupt and faster dilution of IONPs than in continuously proliferating cells undergoing symmetric cell division (Fig. 3) [87].

Also for cells dividing symmetrically, however, the dilution of nanoparticles can differ between the two daughter cells. The dilution of endocytosed QDs upon cell division leads to an asymmetric segregation of endosomes and thus of QDs [88]. Using a statistical model, the same group further showed that partitioning of nanoparticles upon cell division is a random and asymmetric event [89]. From a biological point of view, it has been suggested that large cell populations can proceed to asymmetric cell divisions in order to be able to more effectively counteract the effects of the 'toxic' nanoparticles [90]. As one cell receives most of the particles, this cell is likely 'sacrificed' so that the remaining daughter cells with nearly no particles have a better chance to survive. Cellular responses to stress induced by nanosized materials can also lead to the induction of autophagy, a self-defense mechanism which can occur in all eukaryotic cells which contain lysosomes [91]. Typically, two membranes will be formed surrounding the region where the nanoparticles are located, to separate this region from the rest of the cytoplasm and then fuse with lysosomes in order to reduce cellular stress and degrade the particles [91]. Also gold nanoparticles, which are generally seen as quite biocompatible, induce oxidative stress upon cellular internalization which in turn activates autophagy [92].

It should be noted that in general, the above mentioned nanoparticles are actively endocytosed and remain within the endosomal compartment of the cell. This most likely explains why these nanoparticles are not frequently reported to be in the nucleus of the cells, although their small size could permit access to the nuclear interior through the NPCs.

## 6. Effect of cell division on nonviral gene delivery particles

As naked pDNA molecules are only poorly internalized, they need a complexation partner to help them to reach the cytoplasm or the nucleus of the cells. Ideally, this carrier should also provide protection of the nucleic acids against enzymatic degradation during the different steps of the delivery process. In the field of nonviral gene delivery, liposomal and polymeric delivery systems (known as lipoplexes and polyplexes, respectively) have a long history [93]. Compared to viral delivery systems, both lipo- and polyplexes are generally easy to prepare, not or weakly immunogenic and allow the incorporation of larger DNA chains as there is no intrinsic size limitation as with viral particles [13]. Typically, liposomal systems consist of at least two lipid types: a cationic lipid, which allows them to electrostatically interact with polyanionic DNA and facilitates cellular uptake through endocytosis, and an accompanying matrix lipid with long, unsaturated fatty acid chains, which mostly aid in the endosomal escape of these lipoplexes, resulting in the release of free pDNA in the cytoplasm of the cells [94, 95].

Polyplexes contain a polycationic polymer, such as polyethylenimine (PEI), that binds to the anionic DNA. Also in this case a surplus of cationic charges allows for binding to and uptake by the cells. Like lipoplexes, polyplexes are taken up by endocytosis and will therefore end up in the endosomal compartment from which they must be released to allow nuclear translocation of the DNA. In general, polyplexes with high buffering capacity are expected to finally escape out of the endosomes into the cell cytoplasm by an osmotic rupture according to the proton sponge hypothesis [96].

When compared to viral vectors, the overall expression efficiency of lipo- and polyplexes is rather low, commonly resulting in transgene expression in less than 50% of all treated cells [14]. This low expression efficiency can be explained by taking into account several hurdles which are intrinsically associated with lipo- or polyplex-based gene delivery: 1) cellular uptake of the complexes, 2) the translocation of the complexes from the endosomes to the cytoplasm, 3) dissociation of the DNA from the lipid or polymer carrier and 4) translocation of the DNA from the cytoplasm to the nuclear compartment [11, 97, 98]. Which one of these barriers limits the transfection efficiency in the most pronounced way is debatable. Most likely, all barriers contribute to some extent to the lowering of the obtained gene expression. For pDNA, however, the transfer of free DNA from the cytoplasm to the nucleus has been reported to be a very inefficient process. Capecchi [10] and Escriou et al. [61] observed transgene expression in 50-100% of the cells microinjected with naked DNA directly into the nucleus but no significant expression upon DNA microinjection in the cytoplasm. Our recent results also indicate that the NE is the main obstacle to pDNA delivery as we saw nearly no GFPpositive HepG2 cells transfected with pDNA/cyclodextrin complexes. In contrast, when the same cyclodextrin complexes were used to deliver mRNA, that only needs to reach the cytosol to display biological activity, up to 30% of GFP-positive HepG2 cells were detected [99]. An even more pronounced difference was observed for HeLa cells [100]. Furthermore, although both lipo- and polyplexes are specifically designed to enable endosomal escape, the majority of the complexes remains entrapped within the acidic endosomes [61, 101]. The acidic environment of the endosomes and presence of degrading enzymes such as lipases will result in the degradation of most liposomes and polymers [102], where the nondegradable polymer backbones or cationic lipids are exocytosed or kept within the lysosomes. DNA molecules which do reach the cell cytoplasm are rapidly degraded by cytoplasmic nucleases and their cytoplasmic residence time should therefore be kept minimal [103].

The intracellular fate of nonviral gene delivery particles still remains obscure. As long as the lipo- or polyplexes have not escaped the endosomal compartment, they are expected to distribute within endocytic vesicles among daughter cells upon recurrent cell division. For lipoplexes, it is assumed that endosomal escape results in the delivery of naked pDNA into the cytoplasm of the cells. This dissociation seems to be necessary since it has been shown that pDNA is not transcriptionally active upon injection of the intact lipoplexes in the cytoplasm nor the nucleus [11, 62]. Therefore, upon cell division, the naked pDNA in the cytoplasm of the cells will most likely behave as described above (see 4.2). For polyplexes, however, it is still under debate whether or not pDNA has to dissociate from the polyplexes before nuclear translocation can occur. From time to time, PEI polyplexes have been observed in the nuclei of transfected cells, suggesting that nuclear uptake of the polyplexes should be possible [104]. Also, Pollard et al. [62] showed that PEI polyplexes injected in the nucleus were transcriptionally active, questioning the need for cytoplasmic pDNA unloading. In line with these speculations, Breuzard et al. [105] found evidence of nuclear polyplexes by FRET imaging. On the contrary, Bieber et al. [106] found no evidence of nuclear PEI polyplexes and mainly observed colocalization with lysosomes. Also, Itaka et al. [107] observed fast release of pDNA from (linear) PEI polyplexes in the cytoplasm, questioning the long-term existence of cytoplasmic PEI polyplexes and their subsequent delivery to the nucleus. The nuclear observed PEI polyplexes in the aforementioned studies could then result from a recomplexation of pDNA and PEI polymers, after both of them reached the nuclear interior independently. Overall, the observation of polyplexes in the nucleus of cells seems to be very rare.

Surprisingly, the long term intracellular fate of lipo- and polyplexes during cell division has never been investigated in detail. Consequently, little is known on the nuclear entry of nanoparticles during mitosis, although the nuclear inclusion appears a very simple concept to study. To address this question, in theory only a detailed real-time analysis of the intracellular distribution of cytoplasmically microinjected nanoparticles would be needed. In living cells, however, the lack of information can partially be explained by the difficulties to inject particles which are larger than 200 nm because of problems of aggregation, needle clogging and long-term survival of the cells after injection. Therefore, most information on the nuclear delivery of pDNA to the nucleus upon lipidbased [5, 8, 13-17] or polymer-based [5, 8, 12] delivery comes from indirect evidence of nuclear entry, namely an increased gene expression, which was reported to be two- to several hundredfold higher in dividing than in nondividing cells. As mentioned in section 2, the cell cycle can be roughly subdivided into five different phases, being:  $G_0$ ,  $G_1$ , S,  $G_2$  and M phase. A common finding is that the expression efficiency for both lipo- and polyplexes is considerably higher during S,  $G_2$  or M phases than during  $G_0$  or  $G_1$  phases [5, 13, 16, 18]. Generally, it is believed that during M phase and associated NEBD, the larger complexes can reach the nuclear DNA [15]. Complexes which were taken up by cells in  $G_0$  or  $G_1$  phase are likely not retained long enough to still be fully functional when reaching the M phase [5]. Apart from NEBD, other events such as a cell cycle dependent internalization of the complexes may play a significant role as well. Although studies have indicated that the cell cycle status has no effect on the cellular uptake of the complexes [108], other studies point to a clear link between complex uptake efficiency and cell cycle status [14, 18]. Männisto et al. [18] linked their observations to previous studies in which it was shown that the rate of endocytosis, in general, increases gradually during the G<sub>1</sub>, S and G<sub>2</sub> phases, but drops drastically at the beginning of mitosis. Of further interest is the study by Marenzi et al. [109] who links reporter gene expression levels to the compaction state of transfected DNA at different cell cycle phases. For transfection of cells in  $G_0$  or  $G_1$  phase, the plasmid is packaged into a more compact form which inactivates reporter gene expression. This compact pDNA is not reactivated when cells are stimulated to cycle. Therefore, differences in gene expression are not directly linked to alterations in transfection efficiencies but rather to the inability of the pDNA to be transcribed when packaged into a more compact form.

Cell cycle independent gene transfer by using polyplexes composed of linear PEI has been reported as well [12]. Also, compact DNA particles were shown to transfect postmitotic cells, showing that at least some nanoparticle types are able to reach the nucleus of nondividing cells [110]. Furthermore, Escriou *et al.* [15] although confirming that mitosis is an important upregulator of expression efficiency, also observed expression in cells which had not divided, albeit to a lower extent. In line with these findings Dowty *et al.* [67] found that when pDNA was injected close to the nucleus, nuclear translocation was observed, regardless of the cell cycle status.

Overall, these data indicate a clear effect of cell cycle progression on transgene expression levels, but the variety of cell types and carrier systems used make it hard to clearly define the exact mechanism underlying this effect. Likely, a combination of factors play a role, where cells in S or  $G_2$  phase have the highest endocytic capacity, while in M phase facilitated nuclear transport by NEBD occurs and the pDNA is allowed to be packaged into a more open form, thus enabling high reporter gene expression levels.

## 7. Viral particles taking advantage of mitosis

Viral vectors remain to have the best transfection efficiencies because for millions of years they have developed mechanisms to survive in the extracellular environment, stabilize virus-cell interactions, increase internalization, hijack intracellular transport systems, deliver their genomes into the appropriate subcellular compartment (cytosol or nucleus) of dividing and nondividing cells and increase transcription. Most of these mechanisms involve design and incorporation of specific proteins into the virus. Many viruses have evolved, gaining the ability to replicate and store their genome in the cell nucleus. These viruses aim at maintaining their genome in the infected cells until the host organism dies. They usually achieve this by integrating genomic DNA into the host chromosomes or segregating episomal DNA into daughter cells [111]. Two groups of viruses which take advantage of cell division during their life cycle, will be discussed in this section: certain retroviruses which depend on mitosis to integrate their genome and thus infect the host cells and some DNA viruses which use mitosis to partition their episomes in the progeny cells of latent infected host cells.

## 7.1. Retroviruses

Retroviral virions are enveloped particles of about 80-100 nm in diameter [112]. In retroviruses, the viral ssRNA is reverse transcribed in the cytosol via reverse transcriptase into dsDNA. This DNA together with viral integrase is organized into the pre-integration complex (PIC) [111, 113]. Also, host proteins such as the barrier-to-autointegration factor (BAF) or high mobility group (HMG) proteins can associate with the PIC [114]. Generally, viruses deliver their genome through the NE of the interphase nucleus. This allows infection of nondividing cells and offers the opportunity to infect terminally differentiated cells. Some retroviruses, however, are dependent on mitosis for infection and their PIC waits in the cytosol until the cell undergoes mitosis. During the temporary NEBD, the PIC can associate with the chromosomes and enter a newly assembling nucleus after which the cDNA integrates into the host genome (Fig. 4 A) [113]. Many retroviruses infect cells exclusively, or more efficiently, if the host cell divides [115, 116]. These include murine leukemia virus (MuLV) [117, 118], human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) [119-121], spleen necrosis virus (SNV) [122], avian sarcoma virus (ASV) [122-128] and foamy virus (FV) [129, 130].

For example, gene transfer and expression of exogenous genes using retrovirus based vectors, such as MuLV, requires cell proliferation which limits their application to dividing cells. Why MuLV cannot work its way into nondividing cell nuclei via nuclear pores is unclear. Yamashita *et al.* [131] indicated that the MuLV capsid protein that is closely associated with MuLV PICs, prevents PICs from migrating into the nucleus of nondividing cells. MuLV PICs perhaps lack NLSs or fail to display NLSs due to MuLV capsid, preventing their NPC import. Alternatively, the MuLV capsid may sterically hinder NPC import [132]. For that reason, MuLV PICs bind the host chromosomes during mitosis and are subsequently enclosed together with them in the daughter nuclei. A particular factor with tethering activity to mitotic chromosomes has not yet been described for MuLV. However, phosphoprotein p12, a part of the MuLV PIC, bears a similar N-terminus as the histone H5 protein [133] and shows a close association with the chromatin. These together tempt to assume that p12 also functions in tethering the MuLV PIC to the chromatin [134]. It should be stressed here that the limited knowledge of PICs in general is caused by the difficulty of obtaining large amounts of material [135].

Contrary to MuLVs, lentiviruses such as HIV-1 infect dividing as well as nondividing cells, like terminally differentiated macrophages [136, 137]. HIV-1 capsid is not strongly associated with HIV-1 PICs as opposed to MuLV capsid [131]. How HIV-1 PICs move through NPCs despite their large size ~56 nm [138] exceeding the limit for active NPC transport also remains unclear. For a review about this controversial matter, the reader is referred to ref. [139]. Overall, transport of the HIV-1 PICs into the nucleus may require the combined action of three constituent proteins, namely matrix (MA), viral protein R (Vpr) and integrase (IN), in addition to specific DNA sequences. During transport, several factors such as virus uncoating, NLS signals and disruptions in NE integrity may play a significant role [111, 113]. The integration efficiency of HIV-1 is up to threefold higher in dividing cells than in nondividing cells as a result of the balance of two opposite effects. While NEBD facilitates docking of the viral genome to the host chromatin, chromosome condensation directly antagonizes and therefore delays integration [140]. Also for lentiviruses, evidence of existence of a specific chromosome binding factor is lacking but the endogenous lens epithelium derived growth factor/p75 (LEDGF/p75) is an attractive candidate chromatin tethering factor. LEDGF/p75 is a nuclear protein that binds integrase via its C-terminus and binds chromatin via its N-terminus, thereby tethering integrase and thus the PIC to the chromatin [141]. However, Katz et al. [142] have reported that nuclear import of HIV-1 PICs might be mitosis-independent in dividing cells. This would indicate that LEDGF/p75 as a chromatin tethering factor is not necessary for nuclear entry of HIV-1 PICs, but that it is required for viral cDNA integration in the host genome.

Aside from lentiviruses, also other retroviruses such as ASV and FV enter the nuclei of nondividing cells, albeit less efficiently than that of dividing cells [129, 132]. Recently, the FV group-specific

18

antigen (Gag) was found to be the essential linker between the viral DNA in the PICs via its Cterminus and host chromosomes during mitosis through interaction with H2A/H2B histones via its Nterminus [143, 144]. The substitution of this chromatin binding site with the chromatin binding site of LANA (see 6.2) allows binding of the incoming PICs onto host chromosomes but it does not restore full infectivity [143]. For ASV, the factors which translocate their PICs into the nucleus of (non)dividing cells are speculated or unknown e.g. an NLS in the ASV integrase protein may underlie PIC import [132]. In contrast to MuLV, lentiviruses and FV vectors showed a long-term persistence of a stable transduction intermediate in quiescent cells, so that they efficiently transduced G<sub>0</sub> fibroblasts which were later stimulated to divide [129]. A mechanism envisioned for how retroviruses might deal with the potentially restrictive environment of nondividing cells, is that the retroviruses themselves may induce cell cycle progression to create a more favorable environment [145, 146]. Studies have indicated that binding of some retroviruses to Toll-like receptors on the cell surface can stimulate the cell to enter into the cell cycle [145]. However, such stimulatory activities are unlikely to be universal [142].

#### 7.2. Latent DNA viruses

Besides the retroviruses which make use of mitosis to integrate their genome into the host DNA, some latent dsDNA viruses associate their genome with the host mitotic chromosomes for persistence of viral episomes in infected cells and their progeny (Fig. 4 B). This is achieved by attaching the viral circular dsDNA as an extrachromosomal element to the host genome. DNA viruses which use this strategy include certain herpesviruses such as Epstein Barr virus (EBV), Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV) and herpesvirus saimiri (HVS) as well as latent papillomaviruses such as bovine papillomavirus (BPV-1) and human papillomavirus (HPV). The virions of herpesviruses are enveloped and rather big (180-200 nm) while papillomaviruses (53-57 nm) and polyomaviruses (40-47 nm) are very small and do not have an envelope [112].

#### Herpesviruses

EBV or human herpesvirus 4 (HHV-4) that is best known as the cause of infectious mononucleosis, can infect a number of cell types, including epithelial and B cells. During latency, EBV is stably maintained as a circular plasmid that is replicated once per cell cycle and partitioned at mitosis. The AT hook activity of a single viral protein named EBV nuclear antigen 1 (EBNA1) is required for both processes. AT hooks are DNA binding motifs found in a family of proteins which bind the minor groove of AT rich scaffold-associated regions on metaphase chromosomes [147, 148]. The stable circular episome carries only two EBV components: the *cis* acting origin of replication (oriP) and the

latently expressed EBNA1 in *trans*. EBNA1 binds directly to viral DNA via its C-terminal domain and tethers the EBV genome to chromatin through its N-terminal domain, initially by direct interactions via its AT hooks, or afterwards through association with the nucleolar EBNA1 binding protein 2 (EBP2). The latter is a part of the perichromosomal layer and the binding with EBNA1 may be required to stabilize the EBNA1-chromosome interaction [149].

Additionally, HVS which transforms T cells was seen to be closely related to EBV and has similarly a *cis* acting oriP that permits stable replication and the efficient persistence of episomes in HVS-infected cells [150].

KSHV, also known as human herpesvirus 8 (HHV-8), commonly occurs in AIDS patients and persists as a multi-copy episome in latently-infected tumor cells. KSHV latency associated nuclear antigen (LANA) is required for episome persistence in host cells during latent infection. LANA mediates viral genome attachment to mitotic chromosomes [151]. Previous studies have shown that LANA directly binds the viral episome via its C-terminal domain, nucleosomes via its N-terminal domain through the folded region of histones H2A-H2B [151, 152] and the mitotic chromosomes via its C-terminal domain through the double bromodomain protein 4 (Brd4) [152]. Brd4 is identified as the first mitotic chromosome receptor for DNA viruses [153]. Recently, however, Xiao *et al.* [154] have reported that the molecular mechanism underlying the bridge between the virus, LANA and the host chromosome is likely complex, involving numerous proteins, such as the kinetochore protein budding uninhibited by benzimidazole 1 (Bub1), with which association throughout mitosis is maintained, making the LANA-Bub1 interaction likely critical for segregation to daughter nuclei [154].

#### Papillomaviruses

Besides the herpesviruses discussed above, also certain papillomaviruses use mitosis to persist in latently infected host cells. For example, HPV-16, together with type 18, causes most of the HPV-associated cancers (e.g. cervical cancer). By the same token, BPV-1 infects paragenital areas in cattle and provides an excellent model for studying papillomavirus molecular biology. A common strategy for papillomaviruses, is that the viral E2 proteins tether episomes to mitotic chromosomes so that the episomes are segregated and enclosed in the daughter nuclei. For example, HPV-8 E2, interacts via its flexible linker hinge region between the N- and C-terminus, with regions of ribosomal DNA repeats located on the short arm of human acrocentric chromosomes [155] and via its C-terminus with the episome [156]. Long term genome maintenance and stable copy number require multiple E2 binding sites in the episome, which are used to tether the episomes to mitotic chromosomes [157]. Brd4 was previously identified as the mitotic chromosome anchor for BPV-1 and HPV-16 via the N-terminus of E2 [153]. Recently, Silla *et al.* [158] have reported that the formation of the BPV-1 E2

segregation complex is Brd4 independent, which is also the case for all HPVs [159]. Silla et al. [158] additionally concluded that the formation of segregation-competent complexes depends on a certain protein level threshold and that multiple E2 molecules are present in a single segregation complex together with cellular proteins, including certain components of the transcription machinery. Therefore, it seems that the chromosome binding action and the transcriptional regulation mediated by the E2 protein are not operating independently. The E2 proteins have been observed to be associated with condensed chromatin at all stages of mitosis, even at times when many other transcription factors have been displaced from mitotic chromatin [160]. E2 proteins are multifunctional, as they are also involved in initiating viral DNA replication and regulating viral transcription, in addition to maintaining the genome as an extrachromosomal replicating element [155]. Also interesting to add is that it has been shown that the consensus sequence RXXS in the hinge region is important for chromosome binding by the HPV-8 E2 protein. The serine residue in this region is phosphorylated by cell cycle-dependent kinases, which most likely regulates the chromosome binding. Furthermore, the RXXS motif can be found in the N-terminal domain of LANA and in the AT hooks of EBNA1, suggesting that cell cycle-dependent phosphorylation could be a common strategy to regulate chromosome tethering during cell division [155].

## Polyomavirus Simian vacuolating virus 40

An additional example of a latent DNA virus which is neither herpesvirus nor papillomavirus, is the polyomavirus Simian vacuolating virus 40 (SV40). SV40 is found both in monkeys and humans and has the potential to cause cancers but most often persists as a latent infection. The circular SV40 genome has been shown to be maintained in certain intracranial tumors, but Krieg *et al.* [161] suggest that SV40 is not the cause of these human tumors. It remains unknown which protein forms the physical connection between the SV40 episome and host chromosomes [162].

# 8. <u>Reflections on therapeutic strategies for the improvement of nuclear inclusion of exogenous</u> <u>nucleic acids or other macromolecules</u>

We and many others are interested in cationic carrier-mediated delivery of pDNA to the nuclei of target cells. During interphase, pDNA has to access the nuclear interior via the NPCs. pDNA is however a large hydrophilic molecule which does not easily pass the hydrophobic central channel of the NPCs. Efforts to increase the nuclear import of pDNA through NPCs by the use of NLSs have met with limited success, although this strategy initially seemed very promising [163, 164]. The use of NLSs to bring pDNA into the nucleus is not within the scope of this review and has been reviewed elsewhere [1, 21]. As described above, when cells undergo mitosis the NE is temporary disassembled, to reappear at the end of mitosis, when a new NE forms around the segregated sister chromatids. It

has been shown that cell division greatly enhances the transfection efficiency of pDNA, presumably because of the intermixing of cytoplasmic and nucleoplasmic components during mitosis, followed by accidental retention of pDNA in the newly formed daughter nuclei [5, 8, 13, 14, 68]. We hypothesize that it should be possible to increase the nuclear inclusion of DNA during cell division by different strategies, which will be discussed here.

## 8.1. Chromatin targeting

First of all, one could think of targeting pDNA to chromatin, so that it is included in the nuclear interior as the NE is formed around it. Both the pDNA itself and the nonviral gene delivery particles containing the pDNA could be equipped with chromatin binding factors. These factors should be able to bind the chromatin directly, or by the recruitment of endogenous proteins which mediate the binding to chromatin. Also, as evidenced by viral examples, the pDNA should contain multiple chromatin binding sites, to assure a strong anchoring of the chromatin during cell division. It should be noted that during mitosis, the chromatin is surrounded by the so-called perichromosomal layer [54-56]. The function of this protein layer is not completely understood, but it is assumed to play a possible role in chromosome organization and/or compartmentalization of cells in prophase to telophase, serve as a binding site for chromosomal passenger proteins or just as a protective barrier around chromosomes. It is very likely that the presence of the perichromosomal layer prevents the attachment of exogenous pDNA to the chromatin unless correct targeting proteins are used. It should also be noted that the space between the chromatin and the newly forming NE is very narrow, raising the question whether at all it will be possible to attach large pDNA molecules or nanoparticles to the chromatin, without disturbing the formation of a smooth NE. However, as described above both retroviruses (7.1) and latent DNA viruses (7.2) frequently use the chromatin targeting strategy to bind their genome to the chromatin and assure its partitioning to the daughter cells (Fig. 4). Also, it was shown that large macromolecules such as free dextrans or pDNA which do not interact with the chromatin, are not retained into the nuclei upon cell division [57, 69]. Therefore, we believe the chromatin targeting strategy has great potential in improving both the amount of pDNA that reaches the cell nucleus during cell division, and the chance the nuclear pDNA gets inherited by daughter cells during subsequent cell divisions.

#### Nonviral chromatin tethering factors

All known chromosomal or DNA binding proteins contain one or more AT hooks, suggesting that it may act as a universal chromosome tethering factor. Therefore, coupling the AT hook region of proteins (consensus motif PRGRP), instead of the full length protein to pDNA or pDNA containing nanoparticles could be sufficient to mediate chromosome binding. Recently, we showed with the *Xenopus* nuclear envelope reassembly (XNER) assay that the nuclear inclusion of polystyrene beads and pDNA/PEI nanoparticles could be improved about threefold upon chromatin targeting with AT hooks derived from the endogenous MeI-28 (ELYS in mammalian cells) and HMGA2β [165]. This clearly shows that chromatin targeting indeed improves the nuclear inclusion of nanoparticles which are bound to the chromatin. In living cells, however, microinjected nanoparticles seemed to be 'trapped' in the endosomal compartment, causing their equal distribution to daughter cells upon cell division, without any apparent nuclear inclusion of the complexes [165]. It should be noted that in this study the chromatin binding peptides were bound to the nanoparticles which contained the pDNA and not to the pDNA itself. Consequently, as soon as the pDNA is released from the nanoparticles, the chromatin targeting properties are lost. In future it could be interesting to attach the chromatin binding peptides directly to pDNA and observe if this results in an increased nuclear retention upon cell division.

Endogenous proteins such as members of the high mobility group proteins (HMG) and histones have also been used as pDNA delivery systems as such [166, 167] or in combination with conventional lipids and polymers [168] to increase transfection efficiency [169]. These proteins were able to enhance pDNA nuclear translocation and transfection efficiency to some extent, most likely due to their innate DNA binding and condensing properties, as well as their intrinsic NLSs. As the chromatin binding domain (N-terminus) of EBNA1 can be replaced by those of either HMG-I or histone H1, with successful maintenance of daughter cell episomes after cell division, these motifs also have potential for mediating pDNA attachment to chromatin and pDNA segregation [170].

Additionally, already more than 10 years ago, a new episomal system has been described (pEPI-1) which possesses replication and episomal retention features through the function of a scaffold/matrix attachment region (S/MAR) isolated from the human β-interferon gene. S/MARs are associated with most of the characterized mammalian origins of replication [172, 173]. The 30 nm fiber of DNA, histones and chromatin proteins appears to be organized into loops by interaction of S/MARs with the nuclear matrix [174]. S/MARs have besides their structural function, also an important role in temporal and spatial organization of gene expression [175]. Recently, Lufino *et al.* [176] showed full functional recovery of low density lipoprotein receptor (LDLR) activity in a deficient cell line. *LDLR* transgene expression retained physiological regulation and was repressed by high sterol levels. They showed also a high mitotic stability of the vector by demonstrating long-term episomal retention in the absence of selection. The mitotic stability is provided by the specific interaction of the vector with the chromosome scaffold via scaffold attachment factor A (SAF-A) from the nuclear matrix. This enables co-segregation with the chromosomes during cell division [177]. Moreover, Tessadori *et al.* [178] concluded that the regulatory mechanisms that act on episomal

genes seem to be similar to those that control host genes. The episomal chromatin undergoes the same modifications as the host chromatin e.g. histone modifications and DNA methylation. The generation of artificial chromosomes with an optimal size with respect to stability as well as transfection efficiencies, can be promising for the future of nonviral gene therapy as it may form the perfect alternative for viral episomal gene vectors (see next paragraph). This is even more interesting in the context of possible immunogenic or oncogenic properties of viral vectors [171]. Additionally, the transgenes bear strong constitutive promoters, which result in nonphysiological overexpression. To achieve physiological conditions of expression, correct alternative splicing and promoter usage, an efficient vector should be based on sequences derived from the human genome, which include the native promoter and all regulatory sequences of a gene [172, 173].

## Viral chromatin tethering factors

AT hooks often also occur in the chromosome binding region of viral segregation proteins which mediate viral genome retention into the nuclei of the host cells. The most interesting features to this point are the chromosome tethering factors of the latent DNA viruses, as the information of responsible chromosome binding factors in the different retrovirus PICs is still limited. Proteins which are identified to have chromosome binding properties are EBNA1, LANA and E2. In addition to sharing the common function of genome tethering, these proteins also play an important role in viral genome replication and transcriptional regulation [152]. Structurally, all three proteins form, or are predicted to form, a similar dimeric  $\beta$ -barrel C-terminal DNA binding structure, regardless of a lack of sequence homology [174]. However, Sekhar et al. [155] have shown that the HPV-8 E2 chromosome binding sequence has similarities with chromosome binding regions in EBNA1 and LANA tethering proteins. Although these proteins may have different chromosomal targets, a common mechanism of regulation of chromosome binding function could be the phosphorylation by certain cell cycledependent kinases [155]. The recent discovery of the RXXS motif, that is a recognition target of several cell cycle-dependent kinases, in all three proteins is in favor of this hypothesis. As it has been shown that the segregation complex in papillomaviruses contains multiple E2 proteins and also the viral genome should contain at least 5 E2 protein recognition sites [158], it can be expected that a strong chromosomal binding is needed to assure efficient partitioning during cell division. Also, the local organization of chromatin is expected to greatly influence the ability of binding nanoparticles during mitosis. For the EBNA1 protein, for example, a possible chromosome binding place has been identified in chromosome 11, although only in 23 out of the 771 possible binding places genomewide EBNA1-mediated binding was also actually observed [175].

In relation to gene therapy, most progress has been made with EBV plasmid vectors, which can be combined with cationic polymers. These EBV plasmid vectors contain oriP and the EBNA1 gene. It has been shown that EBNA1 maintains and equally partitions a plasmid that contains the viral oriP region in cis by tethering it to endogenous chromatin [147] (reviewed by He & Zhang [176]) (Fig. 4 B). The mechanisms underlying the efficient transfection/expression are not yet fully understood, because EBNA1 exerts a variety of functions through sequence-specific binding to oriP. However, Kishida et al. [177] have shown that the efficient delivery and expression is predominantly due to the promotion of cytoplasm-to-nuclear recruitment as well as enhancement of transcription, while the episomal replication is not essentially involved. A major drawback of EBV vectors is the possibility of tumor development in human. Therefore, the possible oncogenicity of all viral vectors in vivo has to be thoroughly investigated [178]. For retroviruses for example, the insertion of the MuLV genome in the host gene promoter and its proviral enhancer activity underscores the potential dangers of MuLV as gene therapy vector [135]. Its weak bias for integration in genes might render ASV a preferable alternative vector [179]. As soon as the retroviral and cellular determinants of integration site selection are elucidated, safer and more effective gene therapy vectors may be developed [135]. Additionally, all the (new) knowledge about viral vectors, will give us in the end the opportunity to make equivalent but safer nonviral vectors.

As an alternative to the use of the whole viral vector or the viral plasmid with oriP and the *EBNA1* gene, another option is to use only the chromatin binding motifs of the EBNA1, LANA or E2 proteins (7.2). Both the direct binding motifs of these proteins, which bind the mitotic chromosomes themselves and the indirect binding motifs, which bind Brd4 or other cellular factors on mitotic chromosomes could be useful as chromosome anchor peptides on pDNA or artificial nonviral pDNA containing particles. Once inside the cytosol, these nonviral particles could target and attach to the chromosomes during mitosis and subsequently be enclosed in the newly formed daughter nuclei. Interestingly, the chromatin binding part of IL-33 was shown to have striking sequence similarities with the H2A-H2B binding motif of LANA, leading to the identification of the hexapeptide MXLRSG that was determined to be crucial for docking into the H2A-H2B acidic pocket [180]. Since IL-33 is an architectural chromatin binding nuclear factor, it has been suggested that KSHV copied the chromatin binding motif of IL-33 to establish latent infection in human cells [180]. This suggests that incorporating the minimal chromatin binding motif MXLRSG could serve to target pDNA to chromosomes during cell division.

Additionally, not the use of a viral protein, but rather that of the host cell protein Brd4, can be a strategy to target gene therapy particles to the host mitotic chromosomes too, as we learn from KSHV and papillomaviruses [152, 153]. Brd4 is a member of the BET family. Their characteristic

feature is the retention on chromosomes during mitosis which allows them to play a possible role in the transmission of epigenetic memory across the entire process of cell division [181]. Also, the possible consequences related to epigenetics of using proteins of this family, is therefore worthwhile studying intensively.

## 8.2. Targeting non-chromatin nuclear elements

Another strategy one could think of is targeting pDNA or pDNA nanoparticles to the mitotic spindle, the NPCs, the INM or the underlying nuclear lamina. Bausinger et al. [182] demonstrated that pDNA/PEI complexes are transported along the microtubules of the spindle apparatus and suggest that the concentration of polyplexes at the location of the emerging daughter nuclei strongly contributes to the transfection process. This indicates that targeting the mitotic spindle could indeed be interesting to increase transfection efficiency, e.g. by the use of Nucleolar and Spindle Associated Protein (NuSAP) [183]. INM proteins which could be used for targeting to the nuclear interior are abundant. Most of them, such as Lap $2\beta$ , emerin and Man1 share a common protein domain, the socalled LEM-domain [24]. Coupling this ~40 residue motif to pDNA could ensure that pDNA or pDNA containing nanoparticles bind the INM or nuclear lamina, ensuring their presence in the interior of the forming nucleus. When the pDNA is targeted to the nuclear lamina, however, we must take into account that the nuclear lamins are only imported in the forming nuclei after the NE has been formed. Therefore, the pDNA should be able to pass the NPCs together with the lamins, which may be impossible to achieve. On the other hand, several studies confirmed that the permeability barrier of the NPCs is not so strict directly after NE formation [31, 58, 80, 184], which could be in favor of pDNA nuclear import shortly after mitosis. In yeast, tethering to NPCs was shown to promote extrachromosomal DNA partitioning during (asymmetric) cell division [185]. Whether targeting NPCs in mammalian cells could also help to increase the nuclear inclusion during or shortly after cell division is unclear. Another possible concern with the above mentioned strategies, however, is the presence of a large pool of endogenous proteins, which could compete for binding to the chromatin, the INM, the NPCs and the mitotic spindle. Also, it is not sure if the proteins will retain their chromatin-, INM-, NPC- or mitotic spindle targeting properties after coupling to pDNA or pDNA containing nanoparticles.

## 8.3. Cell-division responsive nanoparticles

Apart from chromatin- and/or INM-targeting, cell-division responsive pDNA containing nanoparticles might present an interesting option to increase gene expression efficiency. We may expect that free pDNA in the cytoplasm acts as a substrate for several intracellular nucleases. On the other hand, at

the moment of cell division, a fraction of free pDNA seems to be able to reach the nuclei of the daughter cells. Therefore, we hypothesize that when the amount of pDNA is the highest at the onset of cell division, this should improve gene delivery efficiency by improving the at random inclusion of pDNA in the nuclei of the daughter cells. This could be achieved by cell division-responsive pDNA nanoparticles which release their pDNA only at the onset of mitosis. In this way the time between release of the pDNA and cell division is as short as possible, which presumably avoids excessive degradation of the pDNA in the cytoplasm before nuclear enclosure can occur. The different phases of cell division are characterized by subsequent phosphorylation reactions by CDKs. By incorporating the recognition sequence of CDK1 (S/TPXK/R) [186, 187] in pDNA containing nanoparticles, one could obtain DNA nanoparticles which are specifically phosphorylated during cell division. The introduction of negatively charged phosphate groups is expected to decrease the DNA binding capacity of the nanoparticles, resulting in an enhanced release of the pDNA upon phosphorylation. This strategy has been used by Wilke et al. [8] who developed a pDNA carrier based on synthetic peptides. One of these peptides was derived from DNA binding proteins and contained the repeated SPKR motif, which is a substrate for CDKs. They found that a mitotic event indeed greatly improved expression efficiency with this peptide based pDNA carrier and asssumed that phosphorylation in the early phases of mitosis strongly diminished the carriers affinity towards pDNA and thus resulted in pDNA release at the time it has the best chances to enter the daughter nuclei [188]. An additional advantage is that the pDNA is well protected against nucleases in the cytosol until it has the possibility to be enclosed in the daughter nuclei [8].

Comparable strategies have been used to develop delivery systems which are responsive to protein kinase A and to cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase [189-192]. Also here it was demonstrated that by incorporation of the appropriate kinase recognition site, specific phosphorylation could be obtained which resulted in release and an enhanced transfection efficiency of the complexed pDNA. It should be noted that the amount of free pDNA in the cytoplasm probably should not rise above a certain threshold, since it has been demonstrated that in cell-free systems pDNA competes with chromatin for binding of NE membrane fragments, thereby disturbing the formation of a smooth NE [193]. Whether this can also occur in living cells, and in this way contribute to the cytotoxicity of pDNA containing nanoparticles remains to be seen.

#### 8.4. Xenopus nuclear envelope reassembly assay to study nuclear envelope dynamics

Insight in the different steps of the nuclear envelope assembly has substantially gained since the use of cell-free systems to study the reassembly of the NE *in vitro* [194, 195]. The *in vitro* assembled nuclei have a NE consisting out of two phospholipid bilayers with embedded NPCs and a peripheral

nuclear lamina, just like normal eukaryotic nuclei. Furthermore, they have a functional nuclear import and export machinery and can even go through mitosis. The XNER assay, serves as a good model to study the chromatin binding and resulting inclusion in the artificial nuclei, without the interference of other extra- and intracellular barriers. In the XNER assay, membrane fraction and cytoplasmic extract are isolated from Xenopus eggs, mostly in interphase [30, 196]. It is also possible to isolate mitotic extracts, by preventing the destruction of cyclin during the extraction and maintaining its phosphorylation state. When DNA is added to a mixture of these isolated cytoplasmic extract and membrane fragments, the assembly of a NE occurs spontaneously as long as an energy source is provided (Fig. 5). In the XNER assay, mostly membrane-devoid sperm chromatin is used as a DNA template. Is has been shown, however, that the NE can even form around protein-free DNA, after initial assembly of the DNA into nucleosomes and further organization into condensed spheres [197]. The ability of Xenopus eggs to form an intact, functional NE around added DNA most likely results from the large amounts of nuclear components which are stored in the eggs for subsequent cell divisions during embryo development. An additional advantage of these cell-free systems, is that certain protein components can be depleted from or added to the XNER assay, to assess their function in the NE assembly and disassembly processes. Furthermore, the nuclear inclusion of pDNA or pDNA containing nanoparticles can be studied by simply adding these particles to the XNER assay. The nuclear inclusion can then easily be followed using microscopy techniques such as phase contrast or fluorescence microscopy. It should be noted that although cell-free systems are very useful to isolate processes from the full complexity of the cellular environment, the results obtained with them should always be confirmed in living cells. Also, the XNER assay cannot be used to study targeting to H2A-H2B pockets, as the *Xenopus* sperm chromatin is devoid of them [151].

## 9. General conclusions

In nondiving cells, all cargo that goes into and out of the cell nucleus has to pass the NPCs. In dividing cells, however, the nuclear permeability barrier temporary disappears, leading to extra opportunities for macromolecules and nanoparticles to reach the nuclear interior during or shortly after mitosis. Viral particles already explored this mitotic window of opportunity, by taking advantage of mitosis to strongly anchor their genome to the chromosomes of the cells. The viral genomes than integrate (retroviruses) into the host genome, or are kept as an extrachromosomal episome (latent DNA viruses) that replicates and partitions together with the host genome. However, viruses display several properties which limit their clinical utility, such as limited DNA carrying capacity, immunogenicity and for some viral vectors, insertional mutagenesis. Therefore, the ultimate challenge is to design an artificial viral carrier which equals viral transfection efficiencies, but which is

safe to use, non immunogenic, non oncogenic and relatively inexpensive and easy to produce. Unfortunately, this is difficult to achieve as it requires the integration of many different and often counteracting features in a single particle [198]. In this review, we focused on features which could enable nuclear enclosure of pDNA containing particles during mitosis.

The partitioning of cell organelles has been reported to be a random process. The equal distribution of key organelles located in the cytosol to the daughter cells appears to be passive or active, involving transport along microtubules. For exogenous macromolecules such as pDNA and dextrans, which cannot pass the NPCs, it has been demonstrated that NEBD is not sufficient to ensure efficient uptake into the daughter nuclei. Rather, it seems that only chromosomes and macromolecules associated with them are included in newly formed nuclei. This most likely results from the fact that a closed NE is formed around tightly compacted chromatin before nuclear expansion occurs, leaving no space for neighboring molecules, cell organelles and nanoparticles to be enclosed. Shortly after mitosis, however, the NPCs in the newly formed NE are reported to be more permeable, thereby temporary shifting the size exclusion criteria to larger molecular weights.

The intracellular fate of small inorganic nanoparticles such as gold, iron oxide nanoparticles and quantum dots has been reported. In general, these nanoparticles are endocytosed and remain within the endosomal compartments of the cell. They are not frequently reported to be in the nucleus of the cells, although their small size (10-20 nm) most likely permits access to the nuclear interior through the NPCs. Upon cell division, in many cases a nice and uniform dilution of the endocytosed particles has been described, but this is not a general rule. Asymmetric division of stem cells, asymmetric segregation of particles in endosomes and the possible induction of autophagy are several examples of nature's way to overcome nanoparticle-induced cellular stress and which may result in a large heterogeneity of nanoparticle numbers upon continued cell proliferation.

Studies focusing on the partitioning during cell division of larger nonviral gene delivery nanoparticles (100 – 200 nm) are very rare, although insight in the cytoplasmic versus nucleoplasmic distribution of nanoparticles during subsequent cell divisions is highly relevant. It has been assumed that NEBD aids the nanoparticles or pDNA to reach the nuclear interior, as most authors observed increased transfection efficiencies following mitosis. A direct prove of this hypothesis is up to date, however, not given. Also we share the opinion that NEBD helps nanoparticles to deliver their pDNA to the nucleus of the cells. Furthermore, we believe that targeting of pDNA or pDNA containing nanoparticles to chromatin could be an interesting feature to further increase transfection efficiency in dividing cells. Based upon the viral examples given, chromatin binding as such is not a guarantee for nuclear inclusion. Instead, a strong anchoring to chromatin is needed, involving multiple chromatin-binding protein recognition sites in the pDNA and the presence of multiple chromatin

29

tethering factors and endogenous cellular proteins in one segregation complex. To date, the chromatin binding properties of the viral proteins EBNA1, E2 and LANA provide the most interesting features to explore chromatin targeting. Ideally, we can incorporate some interesting viral features for chromosome binding, without the introduction of the immunogenicity, oncogenicity or insertional mutagenesis that is often associated with viral carriers. Also, development of cell responsive particles that disintegrate at the onset of mitosis seems to be a promising concept to study. It is however not realistic to believe that the various options as presented by us in the foregoing will easily lead to the ultimate goal of improving intra-nuclear delivery of exogenous genes. Only careful and systematic studies of the individual steps involved in the process, without ignoring the transfection process as a whole, can lead to success. The ideally designed nonviral particles will have to overcome many extra- and intracellular barriers to accomplish highly efficient pDNA expression, replication and segregation of the pDNA to the progeny cells.

#### <u>Acknowledgments</u>

The Agency for Innovation through Science and Technology in Flanders (IWT) and Research Foundation Flanders (FWO) are acknowledged with gratitude for their financial support.

Graphical abstract



🛲 Golgi apparatus 🔮 dextrans>25kDa 🔵 nanoparticles>20nm 🔀 retroviral PICs 🥏 labeled pDNA 🥏 latent DNA episomes or EBNA1/oriP plasmids



Figure 1. Structure of the nuclear envelope (NE). The NE consists of an outer nuclear membrane (ONM) continuous with the rough endoplasmic reticulum (RER), and the inner nuclear membrane (INM), which fuse at the so-called nuclear pore complexes (NPCs). Barrier-to-autointegration factor (BAF) is a chromatin-associated protein that also binds to the nuclear lamina and several nuclear envelope proteins.



Figure 2. Subcellular distribution of dextrans. Cells were injected with rhodamine-labeled small dextran (11 kDa) and fluorescein-labeled large dextran (485 kDa). (A and B) After nuclear injection in an undivided cell. (C and D) After cytoplasmic injection in an undivided cell. (E and F) After nuclear injection in a divided cell. (G and H) After cytoplasmic injection in a divided cell. (A), (B), (E), and (F) are epifluorescent images. (C), (D), (G), and (H) are single optical sections of confocal images. Scale bars, 15  $\mu$ m. (Reprinted by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: [Molecular Therapy] [57], copyright (2002), DOI: 10.1006/mthe.2002.0581, http://www.nature.com/mt/journal/v5/n5/full/mt200282a.html)



Figure 3. Schematic presentation of symmetrical vs. asymmetrical cell division and dilution of Feridex particles. In symmetrically dividing cells the contrast agent is distributed equally among daughter cells (a). Asymmetric cell division, as commonly encountered in stem cells, leads to a unequal/uneven distribution of Feridex particles. This in turn can lead to a sharp decline in cell detectability (b). (Reprinted by permission from John Wiley and Sons: [Magnetic Resonance in Medicine] [87], copyright (2007), DOI: 10.1002/mrm.21280, http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/mrm.21280/abstract;jsessionid=D765ABF7E11FB972401 48DDDE79FFA9E.d01t03)



Figure 4. Schematic presentation of how retroviruses (A) and latent DNA viruses (B) take advantage of mitosis. A) Infection of retroviruses. After reverse transcription packages of viral DNA are assembled (pre-integration complexes: PICs). The PICs tether host chromosomes during methapase (M) and are following cytokinesis (C) enclosed into the daughter nuclei, where integration (I) can take place. B) Latent DNA virus episome or EBNA1/oriP plasmid maintenance and segregation. Episomes/oriP plasmids are bound to the host chromatin. Replication of host chromosomes and episomes/oriP plasmids and partitioning of episomes/oriP plasmids to sister chromatids take place during DNA synthesis (S) phase. Nuclear segregation of episomes/oriP plasmids to the daughter nuclei is achieved following mitosis (M+C).



Figure 5. Different stages of the formation of an artificial nucleus around chromatin in the XNER assay. (Reproduced with permission from Journal of Cell Science [199], copyright (1997), http://jcs.biologists.org/content/110/13/1489.long)

Table	1.	Intracellular	partitioning	and	nuclear	enclosure/exclusion	of	cell	organelles,	free
macromolecules, inorganic nanoparticles, nonviral gene delivery particles and viruses upon mitosis.										

		References
Cell organelles		
Endosomal vesicles	passive or active (through interaction	[40, 41]
Golgi apparatus	with the mitotic spindle or the	[41, 45, 47-49]
Endoplasmic reticulum /	chromosomes) partitioning;	[19, 37, 38, 50,
Nuclear envelope	nuclear exclusion	51]
Free macromolecules		
Labeled dextrans	< 25 kDa: through NPCs	[31, 39, 57, 58]
	> 25 kDa: nuclear exclusion	
plasmid DNA	labeled: nuclear exclusion	[57, 68-70]
	unlabeled: nuclear enclosure	
Inorganic nanoparticles		
Gold particles	< 10 nm: through NPCs	[88, 89]

	10-20 nm: nuclear enclosure	
	> 20 nm: nuclear exclusion	
Quantum dots	Symmetric or asymmetric segregation	[79, 80]
Iron oxide nanoparticles	within endosomes; nuclear exclusion	[87]
Nonviral gene delivery particles		
Lipid carriers	unknown	[5, 8, 13-17]
Polymer carriers	UIKIOWI	[5, 8, 12]
Viruses	chromatin tethering factor	
Murine leukemia virus (MuLV)	(p12)	[133, 134]
Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)	(LEDGF/p75)	[141]
Avian sarcoma virus (ASV)	(IN)	[132]
Foamy virus (FV)	(Gag)	[143, 144]
Epstein Barr virus (EBV)	EBNA1	[147-149]
Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus	LANA	[151, 152, 154]
(KSHV)		
Bovine (BPV) and human papillomavirus	E2	[155-158]
(HPV)		
Simian vacuolating virus 40 (SV40)	unknown	[161, 162]

# **References**

[1] A.P. Lam, D.A. Dean, Progress and prospects: nuclear import of nonviral vectors, Gene Therapy, 17 (2010) 439-447.

[2] F.O. Fackelmayer, Nuclear architecture and gene expression in the quest for novel therapeutics, Curr.Pharm.Des, 10 (2004) 2851-2860.

[3] D.A. Dean, D.D. Strong, W.E. Zimmer, Nuclear entry of nonviral vectors, Gene Ther, 12 (2005) 881-890.

[4] A. gado-Canedo, D.G. Santos, J.A. Chies, K. Kvitko, N.B. Nardi, Optimization of an electroporation protocol using the K562 cell line as a model: role of cell cycle phase and cytoplasmic DNAses, Cytotechnology, 51 (2006) 141-148.

[5] S. Brunner, T. Sauer, S. Carotta, M. Cotten, M. Saltik, E. Wagner, Cell cycle dependence of gene transfer by lipoplex polyplex and recombinant adenovirus, Gene Therapy, 7 (2000) 401-407.

[6] M. Malumbres, Physiological relevance of cell cycle kinases, Physiol Rev., 91 (2011) 973-1007.

[7] M. Bollen, D.W. Gerlich, B. Lesage, Mitotic phosphatases: from entry guards to exit guides, Trends Cell Biol., 19 (2009) 531-541.

[8] M. Wilke, E. Fortunati, M. Van Den Broek, A.T. Hoogeveen, B.J. Scholte, Efficacy of a peptidebased gene delivery system depends on mitotic activity, Gene Therapy, (1996) 1133-1142.

[9] F. Labat-Moleur, A.M. Steffan, C. Brisson, H. Perron, O. Feugeas, P. Furstenberger, F. Oberling, E. Brambilla, J.P. Behr, An electron microscopy study into the mechanism of gene transfer with lipopolyamines, Gene Ther, 3 (1996) 1010-1017.

[10] M.R. Capecchi, High efficiency transformation by direct microinjection of DNA into cultured mammalian cells, Cell, 22 (1980) 479-488.

[11] J. Zabner, A.J. Fasbender, T. Moninger, K.A. Poellinger, M.J. Welsh, Cellular and molecular barriers to gene transfer by a cationic lipid, The Journal of biological chemistry, 270 (1995) 18997-19007.

[12] S. Brunner, E. Fortbauer, T. Sauer, M. Kursa, E. Wagner, Overcoming the nuclear barrier: cell cycle independent nonviral gene transfer with linear PEI or electroporation, Molecular Therapy, 5 (2002) 80-86.

[13] I. Mortimer, P. Tam, I. MacLachlan, R.W. Graham, E.G. Saravolac, P.B. Joshi, Cationic lipidmediated transfection of cells in culture requires mitotic activity, Gene Therapy, 6 (1999) 403-411.

[14] W.C. Tseng, F.R. Haselton, T.D. Giorgio, Mitosis enhances transgene expression of plasmid delivered by cationic liposomes, Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Gene Structure and Expression, 1445 (1999) 53-64.

[15] V. Escriou, M. Carriere, F. Bussone, P. Wils, D. Scherman, Critical assessment of the nuclear import of plasmid during cationic lipid-mediated gene transfer, Journal of Gene Medicine, 3 (2001) 179-187.

[16] A. Fasbender, J. Zabner, B.G. Zeiher, M.J. Welsh, A low rate of cell proliferation and reduced DNA uptake limit cationic lipid-mediated gene transfer to primary cultures of ciliated human airway epithelia, Gene Therapy, 4 (1997) 1173-1180.

[17] C. Jiang, S.P. O'Connor, S.L. Fang, K.X. Wang, J. Marshall, J.L. Williams, B. Wilburn, Y. Echelard, S.H. Cheng, Efficiency of cationic lipid-mediated transfection of polarized and differentiated airway epithelial cells in vitro and in vivo, Hum Gene Ther, 9 (1998) 1531-1542.

[18] M. Mannisto, S. Ronkko, M. Matto, P. Honkakoski, M. Hyttinen, J. Pelkonen, A. Urtti, The role of cell cycle on polyplex-mediated gene transfer into a retinal pigment epithelial cell line, Journal of Gene Medicine, 7 (2005) 466-476.

[19] M.W. Hetzer, T.C. Walther, I.W. Mattaj, Pushing the envelope: structure, function, and dynamics of the nuclear periphery, Annu.Rev.Cell Dev.Biol., 21 (2005) 347-380.

[20] T.M. Gant, K.L. Wilson, Nuclear assembly, Annual review of cell and developmental biology, 13 (1997) 669-695.

[21] M.A. van der Aa, E. Mastrobattista, R.S. Oosting, W.E. Hennink, G.A. Koning, D.J. Crommelin, The nuclear pore complex: the gateway to successful nonviral gene delivery, Pharm Res, 23 (2006) 447-459.

[22] W. Antonin, J. Ellenberg, E. Dultz, Nuclear pore complex assembly through the cell cycle: regulation and membrane organization, FEBS Lett., 582 (2008) 2004-2016.

[23] D.W. Van de Vosse, Y. Wan, R.W. Wozniak, J.D. Aitchison, Role of the nuclear envelope in genome organization and gene expression, Wiley.Interdiscip.Rev.Syst.Biol.Med., 3 (2011) 147-166.

[24] A. Margalit, S. Vlcek, Y. Gruenbaum, R. Foisner, Breaking and making of the nuclear envelope, Journal of Cellular Biochemistry, 95 (2005) 454-465.

[25] T. Shimi, T. Koujin, M. Segura-Totten, K.L. Wilson, T. Haraguchi, Y. Hiraoka, Dynamic interaction between BAF and emerin revealed by FRAP, FLIP, and FRET analyses in living HeLa cells, Journal of Structural Biology, 147 (2004) 31-41.

[26] M. Segura-Totten, A.K. Kowalski, R. Craigie, K.L. Wilson, Barrier-to-autointegration factor: major roles in chromatin decondensation and nuclear assembly, The Journal of cell biology, 158 (2002) 475-485.

[27] N.M. Maraldi, C. Capanni, V. Cenni, M. Fini, G. Lattanzi, Laminopathies and lamin-associated signaling pathways, J.Cell Biochem., 112 (2011) 979-992.

[28] H.D. Coutinho, V.S. Falcao-Silva, G.F. Goncalves, R.B. da Nobrega, Molecular ageing in progeroid syndromes: Hutchinson-Gilford progeria syndrome as a model, Immun.Ageing, 6 (2009) 4.

[29] I. Rajapakse, M. Groudine, On emerging nuclear order, Journal of Cell Biology, 192 (2011) 711-721.

[30] M.M. Higa, K.S. Ullman, A.J. Prunuske, Studying nuclear disassembly in vitro using Xenopus egg extract, Methods, 39 (2006) 284-290.

[31] P. Lenart, J. Ellenberg, Monitoring the permeability of the nuclear envelope during the cell cycle, Methods, 38 (2006) 17-24.

[32] G.A. de, O. Cohen-Fix, The many phases of anaphase, Trends Biochem.Sci., 30 (2005) 559-568.

[33] S. Guttinger, E. Laurell, U. Kutay, Orchestrating nuclear envelope disassembly and reassembly during mitosis, Nat.Rev.Mol.Cell Biol., 10 (2009) 178-191.

[34] C. Maison, H. Horstmann, S.D. Georgatos, Regulated docking of nuclear membrane vesicles to vimentin filaments during mitosis, The Journal of cell biology, 123 (1993) 1491-1505.

[35] K.L. Wilson, J. Newport, A Trypsin-Sensitive Receptor on Membrane-Vesicles Is Required for Nuclear-Envelope Formation Invitro, Journal of Cell Biology, 107 (1988) 57-68.

[36] N. Chaudhary, J.C. Courvalin, Stepwise reassembly of the nuclear envelope at the end of mitosis, The Journal of cell biology, 122 (1993) 295-306.

[37] L. Lu, M.S. Ladinsky, T. Kirchhausen, Formation of the postmitotic nuclear envelope from extended ER cisternae precedes nuclear pore assembly, Journal of Cell Biology, 194 (2011) 425-440.

[38] M. Webster, K.L. Witkin, O. Cohen-Fix, Sizing up the nucleus: nuclear shape, size and nuclearenvelope assembly, Journal of cell science, 122 (2009) 1477-1486.

[39] J.A. Swanson, P.L. McNeil, Nuclear reassembly excludes large macromolecules, Science (New York, N.Y, 238 (1987) 548-550.

[40] T. Bergeland, J. Widerberg, O. Bakke, T.W. Nordeng, Mitotic partitioning of endosomes and lysosomes, Curr Biol, 11 (2001) 644-651.

[41] K. Dunster, B.H. Toh, J.W. Sentry, Early endosomes, late endosomes, and lysosomes display distinct partitioning strategies of inheritance with similarities to Golgi-derived membranes, European journal of cell biology, 81 (2002) 117-124.

[42] M.G. Farquhar, G.E. Palade, The Golgi apparatus (complex)-(1954-1981)-from artifact to center stage, The Journal of cell biology, 91 (1981) 77s-103s.

[43] A. Perroncito, Contribution a l'etude de la biologic cellulaire. Mitochondres, chromidies et appareil reticulaire interne dans les cellules spermatiques. Le phenomene de la dictyokinese, Arch Ital Biol 54 (1910) 307-345.

[44] J.M. Lucocq, J.G. Pryde, E.G. Berger, G. Warren, A mitotic form of the Golgi apparatus in HeLa cells, The Journal of cell biology, 104 (1987) 865-874.

[45] J.M. Lucocq, G. Warren, Fragmentation and partitioning of the Golgi apparatus during mitosis in HeLa cells, The EMBO journal, 6 (1987) 3239-3246.

[46] J.M. Lucocq, E.G. Berger, G. Warren, Mitotic Golgi fragments in HeLa cells and their role in the reassembly pathway, The Journal of cell biology, 109 (1989) 463-474.

[47] C.W. Birky, Jr., The partitioning of cytoplasmic organelles at cell division, Int Rev Cytol Suppl, 15 (1983) 49-89.

[48] D.T. Shima, K. Haldar, R. Pepperkok, R. Watson, G. Warren, Partitioning of the Golgi apparatus during mitosis in living HeLa cells, The Journal of cell biology, 137 (1997) 1211-1228.

[49] D.T. Shima, N. Cabrera-Poch, R. Pepperkok, G. Warren, An ordered inheritance strategy for the Golgi apparatus: visualization of mitotic disassembly reveals a role for the mitotic spindle, The Journal of cell biology, 141 (1998) 955-966.

[50] C. Rabouille, E. Jokitalo, Golgi apparatus partitioning during cell division, Molecular Membrane Biology, 20 (2003) 117-127.

[51] K.J. Zaal, C.L. Smith, R.S. Polishchuk, N. Altan, N.B. Cole, J. Ellenberg, K. Hirschberg, J.F. Presley, T.H. Roberts, E. Siggia, R.D. Phair, J. Lippincott-Schwartz, Golgi membranes are absorbed into and reemerge from the ER during mitosis, Cell, 99 (1999) 589-601.

[52] K. Luby-Phelps, Preparation of fluorescently labeled dextrans and ficolls, Methods in cell biology, 29 (1989) 59-73.

[53] R. Benavente, U. Scheer, N. Chaly, Nucleocytoplasmic sorting of macromolecules following mitosis: fate of nuclear constituents after inhibition of pore complex function, European journal of cell biology, 50 (1989) 209-219.

[54] T. Gautier, M. Robert-Nicoud, M.N. Guilly, D. Hernandez-Verdun, Relocation of nucleolar proteins around chromosomes at mitosis. A study by confocal laser scanning microscopy, Journal of cell science, 102 (Pt 4) (1992) 729-737.

[55] D. Hernandez-Verdun, T. Gautier, The chromosome periphery during mitosis, Bioessays, 16 (1994) 179-185.

[56] A.A. Van Hooser, P. Yuh, R. Heald, The perichromosomal layer, Chromosoma, 114 (2005) 377-388.

[57] J.J. Ludtke, M.G. Sebestyen, J.A. Wolff, The effect of cell division on the cellular dynamics of microinjected DNA and dextran, Molecular Therapy, 5 (2002) 579-588.

[58] A. Miyawaki, S. Shimozono, H. Tsutsui, Diffusion of Large Molecules into Assembling Nuclei Revealed Using an Optical Highlighting Technique, Biophys J, 97 (2009) 1288-1294.

[59] G.L. Lukacs, P. Haggie, O. Seksek, D. Lechardeur, N. Freedman, A.S. Verkman, Size-dependent DNA mobility in cytoplasm and nucleus, The Journal of biological chemistry, 275 (2000) 1625-1629.

[60] D. Lechardeur, K.J. Sohn, M. Haardt, P.B. Joshi, M. Monck, R.W. Graham, B. Beatty, J. Squire, H. O'Brodovich, G.L. Lukacs, Metabolic instability of plasmid DNA in the cytosol: a potential barrier to gene transfer, Gene Therapy, 6 (1999) 482-497.

[61] V. Escriou, C. Ciolina, A. Helbling-Leclerc, P. Wils, D. Scherman, Cationic lipid-mediated gene transfer: Analysis of cellular uptake and nuclear import of plasmid DNA, Cell Biology and Toxicology, 14 (1998) 95-104.

[62] H. Pollard, J.S. Remy, G. Loussouarn, S. Demolombe, J.P. Behr, D. Escande, Polyethylenimine but not cationic lipids promotes transgene delivery to the nucleus in mammalian cells, Journal of Biological Chemistry, 273 (1998) 7507-7511.

[63] A. Subramanian, P. Ranganathan, S.L. Diamond, Nuclear targeting peptide scaffolds for lipofection of nondividing mammalian cells, Nature biotechnology, 17 (1999) 873-877.

[64] M.G. Sebestyen, J.J. Ludtke, M.C. Bassik, G. Zhang, V. Budker, E.A. Lukhtanov, J.E. Hagstrom, J.A. Wolff, DNA vector chemistry: the covalent attachment of signal peptides to plasmid DNA, Nature biotechnology, 16 (1998) 80-85.

[65] D.A. Dean, B.S. Dean, S. Muller, L.C. Smith, Sequence requirements for plasmid nuclear import, Exp Cell Res, 253 (1999) 713-722.

[66] R.E. Vandenbroucke, B. Lucas, J. Demeester, S.C. De Smedt, N.N. Sanders, Nuclear accumulation of plasmid DNA can be enhanced by non-selective gating of the nuclear pore, Nucleic acids research, 35 (2007) e86.

[67] M.E. Dowty, P. Williams, G.F. Zhang, J.E. Hagstrom, J.A. Wolff, Plasmid DNA Entry into Postmitotic Nuclei of Primary Rat Myotubes, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 92 (1995) 4572-4576.

[68] K. Remaut, N.N. Sanders, F. Fayazpour, J. Demeester, S.C. De Smedt, Influence of plasmid DNA topology on the transfection properties of DOTAP/DOPE lipoplexes, Journal of Controlled Release, 115 (2006) 335-343.

[69] J.Z. Gasiorowski, D.A. Dean, Postmitotic nuclear retention of episomal plasmids is altered by DNA labeling and detection methods, Molecular Therapy, 12 (2005) 460-467.

[70] N. Shimizu, F. Kamezaki, S. Shigematsu, Tracking of microinjected DNA in live cells reveals the intracellular behavior and elimination of extrachromosomal genetic material, Nucleic acids research, 33 (2005) 6296-6307.

[71] D.D. Newmeyer, J.M. Lucocq, T.R. Burglin, E.M. De Robertis, Assembly in vitro of nuclei active in nuclear protein transport: ATP is required for nucleoplasmin accumulation, The EMBO journal, 5 (1986) 501-510.

[72] J. Newport, Nuclear Reconstitution Invitro - Stages of Assembly around Protein-Free DNA, Cell, 48 (1987) 205-217.

[73] K. Shimizu, Y. Maitani, K. Takayama, T. Nagai, Formulation of liposomes with a soybean-derived sterylglucoside mixture and cholesterol for liver targeting, Biol Pharm Bull, 20 (1997) 881-886.

[74] C. Srinivasan, J. Lee, F. Papadimitrakopoulos, L.K. Silbart, M. Zhao, D.J. Burgess, Labeling and intracellular tracking of functionally active plasmid DNA with semiconductor quantum dots, Molecular Therapy, 14 (2006) 192-201.

[75] B.Y.S. Kim, J.T. Rutka, W.C.W. Chan, Current Concepts: Nanomedicine., New Engl J Med, 363 (2010) 2434-2443.

[76] A.M. Sauer, K.G. de Bruin, N. Ruthardt, O. Mykhaylyk, C. Plank, C. Brauchle, Dynamics of magnetic lipoplexes studied by single particle tracking in living cells, Journal of Controlled Release, 137 (2009) 136-145.

[77] B.Q. Zhang, Y.J. Zhang, S.K. Mallapragada, A.R. Clapp, Sensing Polymer/DNA Polyplex Dissociation Using Quantum Dot Fluorophores, ACS nano, 5 (2011) 129-138.

[78] E.C. Dreaden, M.A. Mackey, X.H. Huang, B. Kang, M.A. El-Sayed, Beating cancer in multiple ways using nanogold, Chem Soc Rev, 40 (2011) 3391-3404.

[79] C.M. Feldherr, Nucleocytoplasmic exchanges during cell division, The Journal of cell biology, 31 (1966) 199-203.

[80] C.M. Feldherr, D. Akin, The permeability of the nuclear envelope in dividing and nondividing cell cultures, The Journal of cell biology, 111 (1990) 1-8.

[81] G.G. Maul, H.M. Maul, J.E. Scogna, M.W. Lieberman, G.S. Stein, B.Y. Hsu, T.W. Borun, Time sequence of nuclear pore formation in phytohemagglutinin-stimulated lymphocytes and in HeLa cells during the cell cycle, The Journal of cell biology, 55 (1972) 433-447.

[82] P. Harris, Electron microscope study of mitosis in sea urchin blastomeres, J Biophys Biochem Cytol, 11 (1961) 419-431.

[83] E. Robbins, N.K. Gonatas, The Ultrastructure of a Mammalian Cell during the Mitotic Cycle, The Journal of cell biology, 21 (1964) 429-463.

[84] B.J. Stevens, The Fine Structure of the Nucleolus during Mitosis in the Grasshopper Neuroblast Cell, The Journal of cell biology, 24 (1965) 349-368.

[85] S.J. Soenen, M. Hodenius, M. De Cuyper, Magnetoliposomes: versatile innovative nanocolloids for use in biotechnology and biomedicine, Nanomedicine, 4 (2009) 177-191.

[86] K.K. Liu, C.C. Wang, C.L. Cheng, J.I. Chao, Endocytic carboxylated nanodiamond for the labeling and tracking of cell division and differentiation in cancer and stem cells, Biomaterials, 30 (2009) 4249-4259.

[87] P. Walczak, D.A. Kedziorek, A.A. Gilad, B.P. Barnett, J.W. Bulte, Applicability and limitations of MR tracking of neural stem cells with asymmetric cell division and rapid turnover: the case of the shiverer dysmyelinated mouse brain, Magn Reson Med, 58 (2007) 261-269.

[88] R.J. Errington, M.R. Brown, O.F. Silvestre, K.L. Njoh, S.C. Chappell, I.A. Khan, P. Rees, S.P. Wilks, P.J. Smith, H.D. Summers, Single cell nanoparticle tracking to model cell cycle dynamics and compartmental inheritance, Cell cycle (Georgetown, Tex, 9 (2010) 121-130.

[89] H.D. Summers, P. Rees, M.D. Holton, M.R. Brown, S.C. Chappell, P.J. Smith, R.J. Errington, Statistical analysis of nanoparticle dosing in a dynamic cellular system, Nature nanotechnology, 6 (2011) 170-174.

[90] H. Summers, Can cells reduce nanoparticle toxicity?, Nano Today, 5 (2010) 83-84.

[91] O. Seleverstov, O. Zabirnyk, M. Zscharnack, L. Bulavina, M. Nowicki, J.M. Heinrich, M. Yezhelyev, F. Emmrich, R. O'Regan, A. Bader, Quantum dots for human mesenchymal stem cells labeling. A sizedependent autophagy activation, Nano Lett, 6 (2006) 2826-2832.

[92] J.J. Li, D. Hartono, C.N. Ong, B.H. Bay, L.Y.L. Yung, Autophagy and oxidative stress associated with gold nanoparticles, Biomaterials, 31 (2010) 5996-6003.

[93] X. Yuan, S. Naguib, Z. Wu, Recent advances of siRNA delivery by nanoparticles, Expert opinion on drug delivery, 8 (2011) 521-536.

[94] S.J. Soenen, A.R. Brisson, M. De Cuyper, Addressing the problem of cationic lipid-mediated toxicity: the magnetoliposome model, Biomaterials, 30 (2009) 3691-3701.

[95] O. Le Bihan, R. Chevre, S. Mornet, B. Garnier, B. Pitard, O. Lambert, Probing the in vitro mechanism of action of cationic lipid/DNA lipoplexes at a nanometric scale, Nucleic acids research, 39 (2011) 1595-1609.

[96] A. Akinc, M. Thomas, A.M. Klibanov, R. Langer, Exploring polyethylenimine-mediated DNA transfection and the proton sponge hypothesis, The journal of gene medicine, 7 (2005) 657-663.

[97] K. Braeckmans, K. Buyens, W. Bouquet, C. Vervaet, P. Joye, F. De Vos, L. Plawinski, L. Doeuvre, E. Angles-Cano, N.N. Sanders, J. Demeester, S.C. De Smedt, Sizing nanomatter in biological fluids by fluorescence single particle tracking, Nano Lett, 10 (2010) 4435-4442.

[98] K. Remaut, N.N. Sanders, B.G. De Geest, K. Braeckmans, J. Demeester, S.C. De Smedt, Nucleic acid delivery: Where material sciences and bio-sciences meet, Mat Sci Eng R, 58 (2007) 117-161.

[99] N. Symens, A. Méndez-Ardoy, A. Díaz-Moscoso, K. Remaut, J.M. Garcia Fernandez, S.C. de Smedt, J. Rejman, Galactosylated polycationic amphiphilic cyclodextrins for transfection of hepatocytes, (Unpublished results).

[100] J. Rejman, G. Tavernier, N. Bavarsad, J. Demeester, S.C. De Smedt, mRNA transfection of cervical carcinoma and mesenchymal stem cells mediated by cationic carriers, J Control Release, 147 (2010) 385-391.

[101] T. Bieber, W. Meissner, S. Kostin, A. Niemann, H.P. Elsasser, Intracellular route and transcriptional competence of polyethylenimine-DNA complexes, Journal of Controlled Release, 82 (2002) 441-454.

[102] N. Zhao, S. Roesler, T. Kissel, Synthesis of a new potential biodegradable disulfide containing poly(ethylene imine)-poly(ethylene glycol) copolymer cross-linked with click cluster for gene delivery, International journal of pharmaceutics, 411 (2011) 197-205.

[103] A. Sasaki, M. Kinjo, Monitoring intracellular degradation of exogenous DNA using diffusion properties, Journal of controlled release : official journal of the Controlled Release Society, 143 (2010) 104-111.

[104] W.T. Godbey, K.K. Wu, A.G. Mikos, Tracking the intracellular path of poly(ethylenimine)/DNA complexes for gene delivery, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 96 (1999) 5177-5181.

[105] G. Breuzard, M. Tertil, C. Goncalves, H. Cheradame, P. Geguan, C. Pichon, P. Midoux, Nuclear delivery of NFkappaB-assisted DNA/polymer complexes: plasmid DNA quantitation by confocal laser scanning microscopy and evidence of nuclear polyplexes by FRET imaging, Nucleic acids research, 36 (2008) e71.

[106] T. Bieber, W. Meissner, S. Kostin, A. Niemann, H. Elsasser, Intracelullar route and transcriptional competence of polyethylenimine-DNA complexes, Journal of Controlled Release, 82 (2002) 441-454.

[107] K. Itaka, A. Harada, Y. Yamasaki, K. Nakamura, H. Kawaguchi, K. Kataoka, In situ single cell observation by fluorescence resonance energy transfer reveals fast intra-cytoplasmic delivery and easy release of plasmid DNA complexed with linear polyethylenimine, Journal of Gene Medicine, 6 (2004) 76-84.

[108] W.C. Tseng, N.B. Purvis, F.R. Haselton, T.D. Giorgio, Cationic liposomal delivery of plasmid to endothelial cells measured by quantitative flow cytometry, Biotechnol Bioeng, 50 (1996) 548-554.

[109] S. Marenzi, R.L. Adams, G. Zardo, L. Lenti, A. Reale, P. Caiafa, Efficiency of expression of transfected genes depends on the cell cycle, Mol Biol Rep, 26 (1999) 261-267.

[110] G. Liu, D.S. Li, M.K. Pasumarthy, T.H. Kowalczyk, C.R. Gedeon, S.L. Hyatt, J.M. Payne, T.J. Miller, P. Brunovskis, T.L. Fink, O. Muhammad, R.C. Moen, R.W. Hanson, M.J. Cooper, Nanoparticles of compacted DNA transfect postmitotic cells, Journal of Biological Chemistry, 278 (2003) 32578-32586.

[111] U.F. Greber, A. Fassati, Nuclear import of viral DNA genomes, Traffic (Copenhagen, Denmark), 4 (2003) 136-143.

[112] E.K. Wagner, M.J. Hewlett, Basic Virology, second ed., Blackwell publishing, Malden, Oxford, Carlton, 2004.

[113] G.R. Whittaker, Virus nuclear import, Adv Drug Deliv Rev, 55 (2003) 733-747.

[114] A.M. Meehan, E.M. Poeschla, Chromatin tethering and retroviral integration: recent discoveries and parallels with DNA viruses, Biochim.Biophys.Acta, 1799 (2010) 182-191.

[115] G.M. Springett, R.C. Moen, S. Anderson, R.M. Blaese, W.F. Anderson, Infection Efficiency of Lymphocytes-T with Amphotropic Retroviral Vectors Is Cell-Cycle Dependent, Journal of virology, 63 (1989) 3865-3869.

[116] D.G. Miller, M.A. Adam, A.D. Miller, Gene-Transfer by Retrovirus Vectors Occurs Only in Cells That Are Actively Replicating at the Time of Infection, Molecular and Cellular Biology, 10 (1990) 4239-4242. [117] J. Harel, E. Rassart, P. Jolicoeur, Cell-Cycle Dependence of Synthesis of Unintegrated Viral-DNA in Mouse Cells Newly Infected with Murine Leukemia-Virus, Virology, 110 (1981) 202-207.

[118] T.Y. Roe, T.C. Reynolds, G. Yu, P.O. Brown, Integration of Murine Leukemia-Virus DNA Depends on Mitosis, Embo Journal, 12 (1993) 2099-2108.

[119] M. Stevenson, T.L. Stanwick, M.P. Dempsey, C.A. Lamonica, Hiv-1 Replication Is Controlled at the Level of T-Cell Activation and Proviral Integration, Embo Journal, 9 (1990) 1551-1560.

[120] J.A. Zack, S.J. Arrigo, S.R. Weitsman, A.S. Go, A. Haislip, I.S. Chen, HIV-1 entry into quiescent primary lymphocytes: molecular analysis reveals a labile, latent viral structure, Cell, 61 (1990) 213-222.

[121] P.F. Lewis, M. Emerman, Passage through mitosis is required for oncoretroviruses but not for the human immunodeficiency virus, Journal of virology, 68 (1994) 510-516.

[122] E. Fritsch, H.M. Temin, Formation and Structure of Infectious DNA of Spleen Necrosis Virus, Journal of virology, 21 (1977) 119-130.

[123] J.P. Bader, A Change in Growth Potential of Cells after Conversion by Rous Sarcoma Virus, Journal of Cellular Physiology, 70 (1967) 301-&.

[124] H.M. Temin, Studies on Carcinogenesis by Avian Sarcoma Viruses .V. Requirement for New DNA Synthesis and for Cell Division, Journal of Cellular Physiology, 69 (1967) 53-&.

[125] R.A. Weiss, Cell transformation induced by Rous sarcoma virus: analysis of density dependence, Virology, 46 (1971) 209-220.

[126] Humphrie.Eh, H.M. Temin, Cell Cycle Dependent Activation of Rous-Sarcoma Virus-Infected Stationary Chicken Cells - Avian Leukosis Virus Group-Specific Antigens and Ribonucleic-Acid, Journal of virology, 10 (1972) 82-87.

[127] H.E. Varmus, T. Padgett, S. Heasley, G. Simon, J.M. Bishop, Cellular Functions Are Required for Synthesis and Integration of Avian-Sarcoma Virus-Specific DNA, Cell, 11 (1977) 307-319.

[128] T.W. Hsu, J.M. Taylor, Effect of Aphidicolin on Avian-Sarcoma Virus-Replication, Journal of virology, 44 (1982) 493-498.

[129] G. Trobridge, D.W. Russell, Cell cycle requirements for transduction by foamy virus vectors compared to those of oncovirus and lentivirus vectors, Journal of virology, 78 (2004) 2327-2335.

[130] P.D. Bieniasz, R.A. Weiss, M.O. McClure, Cell cycle dependence of foamy retrovirus infection, Journal of virology, 69 (1995) 7295-7299.

[131] M. Yamashita, M. Emerman, Capsid is a dominant determinant of retrovirus infectivity in nondividing cells, Journal of virology, 78 (2004) 5670-5678.

[132] J.L. Anderson, T.J. Hope, Intracellular trafficking of retroviral vectors: obstacles and advances, Gene Ther, 12 (2005) 1667-1678.

[133] L.E. Henderson, R.V. Gilden, S. Oroszlan, Amino acid sequence homology between histone H5 and murine leukemia virus phosphoprotein p12, Science (New York, N.Y, 203 (1979) 1346-1348.

[134] A. Prizan-Ravid, E. Elis, N. Laham-Karam, S. Selig, M. Ehrlich, E. Bacharach, The Gag cleavage product, p12, is a functional constituent of the murine leukemia virus pre-integration complex, PLoS Pathog, 6 (in press) e1001183.

[135] M.K. Lewinski, F.D. Bushman, Retroviral DNA integration--mechanism and consequences, Adv Genet, 55 (2005) 147-181.

[136] J.B. Weinberg, T.J. Matthews, B.R. Cullen, M.H. Malim, Productive Human-Immunodeficiency-Virus Type-1 (Hiv-1) Infection of Nonproliferating Human Monocytes, Journal of Experimental Medicine, 174 (1991) 1477-1482.

[137] P. Lewis, M. Hensel, M. Emerman, Human-Immunodeficiency-Virus Infection of Cells Arrested in the Cell-Cycle, Embo Journal, 11 (1992) 3053-3058.

[138] M.D. Miller, C.M. Farnet, F.D. Bushman, Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 preintegration complexes: studies of organization and composition, Journal of virology, 71 (1997) 5382-5390.

[139] M.P. Sherman, W.C. Greene, Slipping through the door: HIV entry into the nucleus, Microbes Infect, 4 (2002) 67-73.

[140] A. Mannioui, C. Schiffer, N. Felix, E. Nelson, A. Brussel, P. Sonigo, J.C. Gluckman, B. Canque, Cell cycle regulation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 integration in T cells: antagonistic effects of nuclear envelope breakdown and chromatin condensation, Virology, 329 (2004) 77-88.

[141] M. Llano, M. Vanegas, O. Fregoso, D. Saenz, S. Chung, M. Peretz, E.M. Poeschla, LEDGF/p75 determines cellular trafficking of diverse lentiviral but not murine oncoretroviral integrase proteins and is a component of functional lentiviral preintegration complexes, Journal of virology, 78 (2004) 9524-9537.

[142] R.A. Katz, J.G. Greger, P. Boimel, A.M. Skalka, Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 DNA nuclear import and integration are mitosis independent in cycling cells, Journal of virology, 77 (2003) 13412-13417.

[143] J. Tobaly-Tapiero, P. Bittoun, J. Lehmann-Che, O. Delelis, M.L. Giron, H. de The, A. Saib, Chromatin tethering of incoming foamy virus by the structural Gag protein, Traffic (Copenhagen, Denmark), 9 (2008) 1717-1727.

[144] E. Mullers, K. Stirnnagel, S. Kaulfuss, D. Lindemann, Prototype Foamy Virus Gag Nuclear Localization: a Novel Pathway among Retroviruses, Journal of virology, 85 (2011) 9276-9285.

[145] J.C. Rassa, S.R. Ross, Viruses and Toll-like receptors, Microbes Infect, 5 (2003) 961-968.

[146] N. Rosenberg, New transformation tricks from a barnyard retrovirus: implications for human lung cancer, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 98 (2001) 4285-4287.

[147] J. Sears, M. Ujihara, S. Wong, C. Ott, J. Middeldorp, A. Aiyar, The amino terminus of Epstein-Barr Virus (EBV) nuclear antigen 1 contains AT hooks that facilitate the replication and partitioning of latent EBV genomes by tethering them to cellular chromosomes, Journal of virology, 78 (2004) 11487-11505.

[148] J. Sears, J. Kolman, G.M. Wahl, A. Aiyar, Metaphase chromosome tethering is necessary for the DNA synthesis and maintenance of oriP plasmids but is insufficient for transcription activation by Epstein-Barr nuclear antigen 1, Journal of virology, 77 (2003) 11767-11780.

[149] V.K. Nayyar, K. Shire, L. Frappier, Mitotic chromosome interactions of Epstein-Barr nuclear antigen 1 (EBNA1) and human EBNA1-binding protein 2 (EBP2), Journal of cell science, 122 (2009) 4341-4350.

[150] S.H. Kung, P.G. Medveczky, Identification of a herpesvirus Saimiri cis-acting DNA fragment that permits stable replication of episomes in transformed T cells, Journal of virology, 70 (1996) 1738-1744.

[151] A.J. Barbera, J.V. Chodaparambil, B. Kelley-Clarke, V. Joukov, J.C. Walter, K. Luger, K.M. Kaye, The nucleosomal surface as a docking station for Kaposi's sarcoma herpesvirus LANA, Science (New York, N.Y, 311 (2006) 856-861.

[152] J. You, V. Srinivasan, G.V. Denis, W.J. Harrington, Jr., M.E. Ballestas, K.M. Kaye, P.M. Howley, Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus latency-associated nuclear antigen interacts with bromodomain protein Brd4 on host mitotic chromosomes, Journal of virology, 80 (2006) 8909-8919.

[153] J. You, J.L. Croyle, A. Nishimura, K. Ozato, P.M. Howley, Interaction of the bovine papillomavirus E2 protein with Brd4 tethers the viral DNA to host mitotic chromosomes, Cell, 117 (2004) 349-360.

[154] B. Xiao, S.C. Verma, Q. Cai, R. Kaul, J. Lu, A. Saha, E.S. Robertson, Bub1 and CENP-F can contribute to Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus genome persistence by targeting LANA to kinetochores, Journal of virology, 84 (2010) 9718-9732.

[155] V. Sekhar, S.C. Reed, A.A. McBride, Interaction of the betapapillomavirus E2 tethering protein with mitotic chromosomes, Journal of virology, 84 (2010) 543-557.

[156] A.A. McBride, J.G. Oliveira, M.G. McPhillips, Partitioning viral genomes in mitosis: same idea, different targets, Cell cycle (Georgetown, Tex, 5 (2006) 1499-1502.

[157] M. Piirsoo, E. Ustav, T. Mandel, A. Stenlund, M. Ustav, Cis and trans requirements for stable episomal maintenance of the BPV-1 replicator, The EMBO journal, 15 (1996) 1-11.

[158] T. Silla, A. Mannik, M. Ustav, Effective formation of the segregation-competent complex determines successful partitioning of the bovine papillomavirus genome during cell division, Journal of virology, 84 (2010) 11175-11188.

[159] M.G. McPhillips, J.G. Oliveira, J.E. Spindler, R. Mitra, A.A. McBride, Brd4 is required for e2mediated transcriptional activation but not genome partitioning of all papillomaviruses, Journal of virology, 80 (2006) 9530-9543.

[160] N. Bastien, A.A. McBride, Interaction of the papillomavirus E2 protein with mitotic chromosomes, Virology, 270 (2000) 124-134.

[161] P. Krieg, E. Amtmann, D. Jonas, H. Fischer, K. Zang, G. Sauer, Episomal simian virus 40 genomes in human brain tumors, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 78 (1981) 6446-6450.

[162] K.M. Fahrbach, R.B. Katzman, K. Rundell, Role of SV40 ST antigen in the persistent infection of mesothelial cells, Virology, 370 (2008) 255-263.

[163] A. Mesika, V. Kiss, V. Brumfeld, G. Ghosh, Z. Reich, Enhanced intracellular mobility and nuclear accumulation of DNA plasmids associated with a karyophilic protein, Hum Gene Ther, 16 (2005) 200-208.

[164] J.J. Ludtke, G. Zhang, M.G. Sebestyen, J.A. Wolff, A nuclear localization signal can enhance both the nuclear transport and expression of 1 kb DNA, Journal of cell science, 112 (1999) 2033-2041.

[165] N. Symens, R. Walczak, J. demeester, I.W. Mattaj, S.C. de Smedt, K. Remaut, Nuclear inclusion of nontargeted and chromatin-targeted polystyrene beads and plasmid DNA-containing nanoparticles, Mol Pharmaceut, (in press).

[166] A. Sloots, W.S. Wels, Recombinant derivatives of the human high-mobility group protein HMGB2 mediate efficient nonviral gene delivery, The FEBS journal, 272 (2005) 4221-4236.

[167] A.R. Mistry, L. Falciola, L. Monaco, R. Tagliabue, G. Acerbis, A. Knight, R.P. Harbottle, M. Soria, M.E. Bianchi, C. Coutelle, S.L. Hart, Recombinant HMG1 protein produced in Pichia pastoris: a nonviral gene delivery agent, BioTechniques, 22 (1997) 718-729.

[168] Y. Shen, H. Peng, J. Deng, Y. Wen, X. Luo, S. Pan, C. Wu, M. Feng, High mobility group box 1 protein enhances polyethylenimine mediated gene delivery in vitro, Int J Pharm, 375 (2009) 140-147.
[169] K.M. Wagstaff, D.A. Jans, Nucleocytoplasmic transport of DNA: enhancing non-viral gene transfer, Biochem J, 406 (2007) 185-202.

[170] S.C. Hung, M.S. Kang, E. Kieff, Maintenance of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) oriP-based episomes requires EBV-encoded nuclear antigen-1 chromosome-binding domains, which can be replaced by high-mobility group-I or histone H1, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 98 (2001) 1865-1870.

[171] K. Van Craenenbroeck, P. Vanhoenacker, G. Haegeman, Episomal vectors for gene expression in mammalian cells, Eur J Biochem, 267 (2000) 5665-5678.

[172] G. Schiedner, N. Morral, R.J. Parks, Y. Wu, S.C. Koopmans, C. Langston, F.L. Graham, A.L. Beaudet, S. Kochanek, Genomic DNA transfer with a high-capacity adenovirus vector results in improved in vivo gene expression and decreased toxicity, Nat Genet, 18 (1998) 180-183.

[173] R. Inoue, K.A. Moghaddam, M. Ranasinghe, Y. Saeki, E.A. Chiocca, R. Wade-Martins, Infectious delivery of the 132 kb CDKN2A/CDKN2B genomic DNA region results in correctly spliced gene expression and growth suppression in glioma cells, Gene Ther, 11 (2004) 1195-1204.

[174] A. Grundhoff, D. Ganem, The latency-associated nuclear antigen of Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus permits replication of terminal repeat-containing plasmids, Journal of virology, 77 (2003) 2779-2783.

[175] F. Lu, P. Wikramasinghe, J. Norseen, K. Tsai, P. Wang, L. Showe, R.V. Davuluri, P.M. Lieberman, Genome-wide analysis of host-chromosome binding sites for Epstein-Barr Virus Nuclear Antigen 1 (EBNA1), Virol.J., 7 262.

[176] J. He, Z.Q. Zhang, [Progress of EBNA1/oriP-based plasmid applied in gene therapy], Sheng Wu Gong Cheng Xue Bao, 21 (2005) 507-510.

[177] T. Kishida, H. Asada, K. Kubo, Y.T. Sato, M. Shin-Ya, J. Imanishi, K. Yoshikawa, O. Mazda, Pleiotrophic functions of Epstein-Barr virus nuclear antigen-1 (EBNA-1) and oriP differentially contribute to the efficiency of transfection/expression of exogenous gene in mammalian cells, J Biotechnol, 133 (2008) 201-207.

[178] M. Conese, C. Auriche, F. Ascenzioni, Gene therapy progress and prospects: episomally maintained self-replicating systems, Gene Ther, 11 (2004) 1735-1741.

[179] R.S. Mitchell, B.F. Beitzel, A.R. Schroder, P. Shinn, H. Chen, C.C. Berry, J.R. Ecker, F.D. Bushman, Retroviral DNA integration: ASLV, HIV, and MLV show distinct target site preferences, PLoS Biol, 2 (2004) E234.

[180] L. Roussel, M. Erard, C. Cayrol, J.P. Girard, Molecular mimicry between IL-33 and KSHV for attachment to chromatin through the H2A-H2B acidic pocket, EMBO reports, 9 (2008) 1006-1012.

[181] A. Dey, F. Chitsaz, A. Abbasi, T. Misteli, K. Ozato, The double bromodomain protein Brd4 binds to acetylated chromatin during interphase and mitosis, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 100 (2003) 8758-8763.

[182] R. Bausinger, K. von Gersdorff, K. Braeckmans, M. Ogris, E. Wagner, C. Brauchle, A. Zumbusch, The transport of nanosized gene carriers unraveled by live-cell imaging, Angewandte Chemie-International Edition, 45 (2006) 1568-1572.

[183] K. Ribbeck, T. Raemaekers, G. Carmeliet, I.W. Mattaj, A role for NuSAP in linking microtubules to mitotic chromosomes, Curr.Biol., 17 (2007) 230-236.

[184] S. Shimozono, H. Tsutsui, A. Miyawaki, Diffusion of large molecules into assembling nuclei revealed using an optical highlighting technique, Biophys J, 97 (2009) 1288-1294.

[185] A. Khmelinskii, M. Meurer, M. Knop, E. Schiebel, Artificial tethering to nuclear pores promotes partitioning of extrachromosomal DNA during yeast asymmetric cell division, Curr.Biol., 21 (2011) R17-R18.

[186] D.Y. Takeda, J.A. Wohlschlegel, A. Dutta, A bipartite substrate recognition motif for cyclindependent kinases, The Journal of biological chemistry, 276 (2001) 1993-1997.

[187] J.A. Endicott, M.E. Noble, J.A. Tucker, Cyclin-dependent kinases: inhibition and substrate recognition, Curr Opin Struct Biol, 9 (1999) 738-744.

[188] C.S. Hill, J.M. Rimmer, B.N. Green, J.T. Finch, J.O. Thomas, Histone-DNA interactions and their modulation by phosphorylation of -Ser-Pro-X-Lys/Arg- motifs, The EMBO journal, 10 (1991) 1939-1948.

[189] J. Oishi, M. Ijuin, T. Sonoda, J.H. Kang, K. Kawamura, T. Mori, T. Niidome, Y. Katayama, A protein kinase signal-responsive gene carrier modified RGD peptide, Bioorg.Med.Chem.Lett., 16 (2006) 5740-5743.

[190] J. Oishi, K. Kawamura, J.H. Kang, K. Kodama, T. Sonoda, M. Murata, T. Niidome, Y. Katayama, An intracellular kinase signal-responsive gene carrier for disordered cell-specific gene therapy, J.Control Release, 110 (2006) 431-436.

[191] Y. Katayama, K. Fujii, E. Ito, S. Sakakihara, T. Sonoda, M. Murata, M. Maeda, Intracellular signalresponsive artificial gene regulation for novel gene delivery, Biomacromolecules., 3 (2002) 905-909.

[192] Y. Katayama, T. Sonoda, M. Maeda, A polymer micelle responding to the protein kinase A signal, Macromolecules, 34 (2001) 8569-8573.

[193] S. Ulbert, M. Platani, S. Boue, I.W. Mattaj, Direct membrane protein-DNA interactions required early in nuclear envelope assembly, Journal of Cell Biology, 173 (2006) 469-476.

[194] B. Burke, L. Gerace, A cell free system to study reassembly of the nuclear envelope at the end of mitosis, Cell, 44 (1986) 639-652.

[195] J.W. Newport, D.J. Forbes, The nucleus: structure, function, and dynamics, Annu Rev Biochem, 56 (1987) 535-565.

[196] C. Smythe, J.W. Newport, Systems for the study of nuclear assembly, DNA replication, and nuclear breakdown in Xenopus laevis egg extracts, Methods in cell biology, 35 (1991) 449-468.

[197] J. Newport, Nuclear reconstitution in vitro: stages of assembly around protein-free DNA, Cell, 48 (1987) 205-217.

[198] E. Mastrobattista, M.A. van der Aa, W.E. Hennink, D.J. Crommelin, Artificial viruses: a nanotechnological approach to gene delivery, Nature reviews, 5 (2006) 115-121.

[199] C. Wiese, M.W. Goldberg, T.D. Allen, K.L. Wilson, Nuclear envelope assembly in Xenopus extracts visualized by scanning EM reveals a transport-dependent 'envelope smoothing' event, Journal of cell science, 110 (Pt 13) (1997) 1489-1502.